
Procurement Board 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Procurement Board to be held as follows 
for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Wednesday, 29 May 2019

TIME: 10.00 am

VENUE: The Boardroom, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence 

2  Declarations of interest 

3  To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held 
on 17 April 2019 

(Pages 1 - 2)

4  Matters arising 

5  Decision items - Part 1 (open to the public) 

5a Request for Approval - Contract Award - Demolition of the High St 
Estate 

(Pages 3 - 8)

5b Request for Approval - Exception to Contractual Standing Orders - 
Award of Contract - Specialist Youth Intervention and Mentoring Work 

(Pages 9 - 14)

5c Request for Approval - Expenditure for Agecroft Prison Footbridge 
Scour Repair 

(Pages 15 - 114)

6  Items for Information - Part 1 (Open to the public) 

6a Notification of Award of Contract - Purchasing Card Programme (Pages 115 - 120)

6b Update on the Process for Retendering of the Contract for 
Archaeological Planning Services 

(Pages 121 - 124)

7  Any other business - Part 1 (open to the public) 

Public Document Pack



8  Exclusion of the public 

9  Decision items - Part 2 (closed to the public) 

10  Date and time of next meeting 

10:00 a.m. on Wednesday 12 June 2019 in the Boardroom, Salford 
City Council, Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5DA.

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3316
Carol Eddleston, Senior Democratic Services 
Advisor

E-Mail: carol.eddleston@salford.gov.uk



Page | 1

PROCUREMENT BOARD

17 April 2019

Meeting commenced: 10:00 a.m.
Meeting ended: 10:51 a.m.

PRESENT: Councillors Hinds (in the chair) and City Mayor, Paul Dennett

IN ATTENDANCE: Christine Flisk Procurement Manager
Joanne Hardman Chief Finance Officer
Sharon Hubber Assistant Director – Specialist Services
David Hunter Assistant Director – ICT
Carol Eddleston Senior Democratic Services Advisor

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Boshell and Merry.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

3. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

The minutes of the meeting held on 3 April 2019 were approved as a correct record.

4. MATTERS ARISING

There were no matters arising.

5. REQUEST FOR APPROVAL – EXCEPTION TO CONTRACTUAL STANDING ORDERS 
– JOINT RECRUITMENT OF A PROJECT WORKER – SEXUAL ABUSE 
THERAPEUTIC AND ASSESSMENT SERVICE

Consideration was given to a report of the Strategic Director People seeking 
retrospective approval to recruit a project worker to deliver therapeutic and assessment 
interventions in partnership with Barnardos Safer Futures Harmful Sexual Abuse 
Therapeutic and Assessment Service and the Youth Justice Service.

It was confirmed that Barnardos was widely used as the provider of this highly 
specialised type of service across Greater Manchester. It provided far better value for 
money than the previously used spot purchase approach. The increasing number of 
referrals was actually a reflection of the fact that people felt more able to come forward to 
report incidents rather than evidence of an increase in the number of incidents.

RESOLVED: THAT,

1) An exception to Contractual Standing Orders be approved in accordance with 
paragraph 3.1 as the need for the service is so urgent that the time needed to comply 
with the rules would be impractical to the Council’s interests, and

2) A two year contract with Barnardo’s for the sexually inappropriate/harmful behaviour 
project, at a value of £54,000, be approved.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Page | 2

6. REQUEST FOR APPROVAL – CONTRACT AWARD – STORAGE AREA NETWORK 
REFRESH

Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Service Reform seeking approval 
to award a contract for the ‘Storage Area Network’ Refresh. 

The Assistant Director – ICT provided a comprehensive overview of the challenges 
currently facing the authority, (including ageing infrastructure, disaster recovery hosting 
& capacity and operating system support) and the proposed solution that could provide 
enough on premise capacity and performance to facilitate the authority’s needs over the 
next three years, including the significant potential for digital growth across all business 
areas. 

It was accepted that the council was not as good as it could be at purging data that it no 
longer required and efforts were ongoing to encourage all areas to purge as much as 
possible where appropriate. This should help to ensure that the council’s storage 
requirements were lower when the council was preparing to go out to market again 
ahead of this new contract expiring in three years’ time.

Discussions would be held on whether cloud storage could be classified as a capital 
asset so as to reduce the implications for the revenue budget going forwards.

RESOLVED: THAT, a 36 month contract for the Storage Area Network Refresh, with a 
total value of £461,435 be awarded to ANS Group Limited.

Page 2



Sample B – award of contract 

Part 1 – Open to the Public
ITEM NO.

REPORT OF

The Strategic Director for Place

TO

Procurement Board

ON

29th May 2019

 
TITLE:   Approval to Award the Contract for High Street Estate Demolition. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That Procurement Board approve the award of the Contract for High Street Estate 
Demolition as detailed in the table below:
 

Detail required
Title/Description of Contracted 

Service/Supply/Project Demolition of High Street Estate.

Name of Successful Contractor Connell Brothers Limited
Supplier Registration Number

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Type of organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Private Limited Company

Status of Organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

SME

Contract Value £1,112,161.94 Full Project
Contract Duration 6-9 Months

Contract Start Date 03/06/2019
Contract End Date 31/01/2020

Optional Extension Period 1 months
Optional Extension Period 2 months

Who will approve each Extension 
Period? Procurement Board (extension > £150k)

Page 3

Agenda Item 5a



Sample B – award of contract 

Contact Officer (Name & number)

Lead Service Group Place

How the contract was procured?
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Framework Call-off (Mini Competition)

Framework Details (where applicable)
(Procurement Body, Framework Reference & 

Title, Start/End Dates, Hyperlink, etc.)
Demolition & Associated Services Framework

Funding Source Capital Programme

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

The City Mayor has previously approved a long term agreement to regenerate 
Pendleton. As part of this Development Agreement the council is required to provide 
cleared sites to deliver the redevelopment plans.  This has included the demolition of 
740 properties across Pendleton. The properties on the High St estate are the last 
150 to be put forward for demolition. 

Following a mini competition, under the Council’s Demolition and Associated 
Services Framework Agreement, the report seeks approval for the award of the 
demolition contract to Connell Brothers Limited (CBL).

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

Creating a New Pendleton Outline Business Case - 2008
Lead Member Report – High Street Development -12th July 2016
Demolition Surveys Report – 14th August 2018

KEY DECISION:  Yes 

DETAILS: 

1. Background

In June 2008 Cabinet approved the clearance of 885 properties in Pendleton as part 
of the Creating a new Pendleton regeneration and PFI scheme.  A phased 
programme of rehousing has been in progress across all estates affected since 
2009. The remaining 150 properties on the High Street Estate are identified as the 
last estate to be cleared in this way.

Page 4



Sample B – award of contract 

On 12th July 2016 the Lead Member for Housing & Neighbourhoods gave approval to 
demolish the properties on High St Estate through the council’s demolition 
framework. 

2. The Procurement Process

A mini competition was advertised via the Council’s Demolition and Associated 
Services Framework Agreement. A 60% Price and 40% Quality Award Criteria were 
selected on the basis that cost was the main consideration of the scheme. 

A total of 5 submissions were received and evaluated. The table below illustrated the 
outcome of the evaluation: 

Name of Bidder
% Price 
score

Max 60%

% Quality 
score

Max 40%

%Overall 
Score
100%

Price

P1 54.92% 32.00% 86.92% £1,215,115.00

P2 60.00% 40.00% 100% £1,112,161.94

P3 55.54% 20.00% 75.54% £1,201,500.00

P4 53.96% 30.80% 84.76% £1,236,613.20

P5 56.69% 34.00% 90.69% £1,177,057.00

The Tender Evaluation Team consisted of technical representatives from Urban 
Vision and officers of the council.

The duration of the contract was estimated at between 6 to 9 months starting from 
3rd June 2019. The framework contractor with the highest overall score has provided 
a programme which suggests that this can be reduced to 6 months.

3. Social Value 

The contractor’s ability to deliver additional social value outcomes were assessed as 
part of the selection criteria for getting on the Council’s Demolition and Associated 
Services Framework Agreement. All potential bidders had previously demonstrated a 
satisfactory capacity to deliver the required social outcomes and wider community 
benefit.

The evaluation criteria for this contract included assessment of how the contractor 
would contribute towards the environmental, social and economic wellbeing of the 
area.

Page 5



Sample B – award of contract 

Connell Brothers Limited (CBL) deliver social value in various ways, one of which is 
to actively encourage and pursue the use of local labour to bring both financial and 
social benefit to the community as a whole. CBL are based is Salford and have 
previously worked for Salford City Council on the Athole and Amersham Street 
demolition. This resulted in the appointment of 4 new members of staff, all who were 
previously unemployed.

The economic benefit to the local community will extend beyond the local labour 
market. The local supply chain used consists of Builders Merchants, security 
contractors, fuel suppliers, hire stores, mechanics, waste transfer centres, hauliers, 
hydraulic hose repair engineers etc. All of which will be further utilised when carrying 
out these works, 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

Housing & Regeneration

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

An Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken at the outset of the Creating a New 
Pendleton project on the Outline Business Case stage of the PFI procurement 
process. A full Community Impact Assessment was also submitted to the Homes and 
Communities Agency as part of the Final Business case. 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  

Low: Design and delivery – Urban Vision’s Building Control team are experienced in 
developing such proposals.

Procurement process – The contract has been procured through the Council’s 
Demolition and Associated Services Framework Agreement. All contractors fully 
understand the council’s requirements and were able to put forward the most 
efficient method of carrying out the work.

Programme - Delays in bringing forward the demolition of the estate will lead to 
increased costs of managing the estate.

SOURCE OF FUNDING:  

The cost of demolition has been identified in the 2018-19 capital programme.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel. 219 6323

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services or the 
execution of works, the Council must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSOs), failing which a 

Page 6



Sample B – award of contract 

contract may be subject to legal challenge from an aggrieved provider. The proposed 
award of the contract follows a tender exercise by mini competition in accordance 
with the Council’s Demolition and Associated Services Framework, which was 
procured in accordance with the PCR and CSO’s. 

The purpose of a framework agreement is to select through a 
procurement/evaluation process a number of providers who can meet the service 
requirements of the Council, as and when those services are required. If they are 
required then the Council will undertake an exercise to call off the services from one 
or more of the providers who have been selected to be on the framework and this 
may be through any number of ways, in this instance by way of mini-competition. A 
contract will then be formed between the Council and the chosen provider/s. The 
Council will need to have followed the procedure set out in the framework agreement 
for mini competition to ensure the procurement process is compliant, and as set out 
in the report the procurement procedures appear robust and in accordance with the 
requirements of CSOs and PCR.

The award of the contract will commit the Council to the formal arrangement with the 
contractor once awarded, and if necessary Legal Services will assist in preparing the 
contractual documentation to engage Connell Brothers Limited upon receipt of 
instructions to ensure the Council’s interests are protected

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: Chris Mee / Alex Archer x 0434

There is sufficient provision within the 2018/19 Place - Housing Sector Housing 
Capital Programme to cover the anticipated cost of the scheme.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: Deborah Derbyshire x 6244

As detailed within the report, the works have been procured via the Council’s 
Demolition and Associated Services Framework Agreement.  This method supports 
the Council’s wider objectives in achieving value for money and sustainable 
outcomes, whilst offering a procurement process that’s compliant with the Council’s 
Contractual Standing Orders.

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: N/A

CONTACT OFFICER: Konrad Magdzinski, Principal Officer Construction, x2197

Jonathan Phillips, Building Control Technician, Urban Vision  x4814                                              

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S):  Langworthy

Page 7



Sample B – award of contract Page 8



Part 1 – Open to the public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF

The Strategic Director for Place

TO  

Procurement Board

ON

29TH MAY 2019 

TITLE:  Approval for an Exception to Contractual Standing Orders to award a 
contract for specialist youth intervention and mentoring work to Salford Foundation

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Procurement Board  

(1) Approve an exception to Contractual Standing Orders in accordance with 
Paragraph 3.1 as follows:

 *The need for the goods, services or works is so urgent that the time 
needed to comply with the rules would be prejudicial to the council’s 
interests.

 *Specialist services/supplies which are available only from one supplier. 
For example, specialist niche consultants or suppliers where there is a sole 
supplier of patented or proprietary articles, or materials or services 
exclusively provided by a statutory undertaker or other bodies.

 *For reasons of compatibility with existing services/products – for example, 
equipment that needs parts from its own manufacturer.

(2) Approve the award of the Contract for (AGMA funded STEER Early Intervention 
Project) as detailed in the table below:

Detail required
Title/Description of Contracted 

Service/Supply/Project STEER Early Intervention Project

Name of Successful Contractor Salford Foundation

Page 9

Agenda Item 5b



Supplier Registration Number
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Type of organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Registered Charity

Status of Organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Choose an item.

Contract Value £82,140 Full Project
Contract Duration  15 months

Contract Start Date 01/01/2019
Contract End Date 31/03/2020

Optional Extension Period 1 months
Optional Extension Period 2 months

Who will approve each Extension 
Period? Choose an item.

Contact Officer (Name & number) Jeanette Staley

Lead Service Group Place
The need for the goods, services or works is so urgent that 
the time needed to comply with the rules would be prejudicial 
to the Council’s interests

x

Specialist services/supplies which are available only from 
one supplier. For example, specialist niche consultants or 
suppliers where there is a sole supplier of patented or 
proprietary articles, materials or services exclusively 
provided by a statutory undertaker or other bodies

x

For reasons of compatibility with existing services/products – 
for example, equipment that needs parts from its own 
manufacturer

x

Where any of the standing orders are inconsistent with any 
legislative requirements, in which instance the provisions of 
the appropriate legislation shall prevail
Where the Council can demonstrate that an integrated or 
strategic approach to procurement is being implemented and 
there is a requirement to align services or contracts to co-
terminus end dates
There are value for money reasons justifying a CSO 
Exception
School Governors: in relation to the Local Management of 
Schools (LMS), where schools have adopted their own 
standing orders
The shared legal service, in respect of the appointment of 
counsel

Reason for CSO Exception
(select all that apply)

Strategic Director of CHSC: contracts for the provision of 
personal care services or facilities pursuant to the National 
Health Service and Community Care Act 1990

Funding Source External Funding Source (please identify below)

(3) Note that prior to the end of the period of time covered by the exception as 
indicated in 2 above, the Strategic Director will determine whether the service is 
to be decommissioned or, in consultation with the Corporate  Procurement 
Team, will agree to undertake a compliant procurement process to re-let the 
contract by the end of the exception period.

Page 10



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

The purpose of this report is to request an exception to Contractual Standing Orders 
to approve the award of a contract for specialist youth intervention and mentoring 
services to Salford Foundation using £60,000 of external monies issued to Salford 
City Council by Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) followign their 
successful submission of a pan GM funding bid to the Home Office Early Intervention 
Fund. The £60,000 external funding provided to us by GMCA is time limited and 
needs to be fully spent by the 31.03.20

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

Lead Member briefing report of the 06.05.19

KEY DECISION: 

No – on the basis of the contract value being £82,140 comprising £60,000 of new 
external GMCA funding and £22,140 of pre approved SCC funding. 

DETAILS: 

The main issue for the Procurement Board is agreeing the exception to Contractual 
Standing Orders and giving approval to award the Contract. The purpose of this 
report is to establish the case for an exception.

In late 2018, GMCA submitted a pan GM bid to the Home Office Early Intervention 
Fund.  The bid reflected some of the community safety work that Salford Community 
Safety Partnership had implemented over recent years, specifically the STEER youth 
intervention and mentoring pilot being delivered by Salford Foundation.

The STEER youth intervention and mentoring project was introduced by Salford 
Community Safety Partnership in response to needs identified within the Project Gulf 
delivery plan, specifically the increasing vulnerability of disaffected young people to 
involvement in serious and organised crime.  Following engagement of partners 
including Integrated Youth and Support Services it was felt that this risk was best 
addressed through the provision of external specialist youth intervention services.  

In response Salford Community Safety Partnership commissioned a one year youth 
mentoring pilot project from Enthusiasm Trust in 2016/17. Whilst a number of 
contractual difficulties were experienced with that project, the outcomes 
demonstrated the benefits of providing at risk young people with specialist 
interventions. 

For those reasons in 2017/18 an alternative STEER project was proffered to us by  
Salford Foundation, which was also co-designed in partnership with SCC & GMP. 
This one year project resulted in 23 young people engaging in the project, a 70% 
increase in school attendance, a 40% decrease in self reporting drug use and 8 
young people accessing employment and skills training.

Page 11



Of note is that at the end of the 2017/18 pilot, 15 young people were left on a waiting 
list, for which based on this and the encouraging outcomes secured in the previous 
one year project, Salford Community Safety Partnership allocated an additional sum 
of £22.140 for the 2018/19 period    

In early 2019 we received notification from GMCA that they wished to allocate the 
sum of £60,000 to Salford, with a specific request that this funding be used to fund 
Salford Foundation and thereby enable the continuation and expansion of the 
STEER intervention project until 31.03.20.  This GMCA funding is time limited and 
subject to Salford City Council providing quarterly returns.  

A request to waiver Contractual Standing Orders (CSO) is being sought to protect 
the £60k of GMCA funding and ensure its expenditure on specialist services.

It is proposed that a ‘without obligation’ tendering process will be undertaken in late 
2019 to identify suitable providers should there be a continuing need for a STEER 
intervention project beyond 31.03.20. 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Salford Community Strategy, Project Gulf multi agency 
serious and organised crime strategy.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:-  N/A.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  

Medium reflecting the potential for the external funds provided by the Home Office to 
GMCA to be lost.

SOURCE OF FUNDING:   

£60,000 to come from GMCA funds with £22,140 pre approved from Salford Council 
revenue sources (Partnership Delivery Group).

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel. 219 6323
When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services or the 
execution of works, the Council must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s), failing which a 
contract may be subject to legal challenge from an aggrieved provider. 

The risk of challenge increases with the value and duration of a proposed contract 
being awarded. Here the period proposed is a relatively short one and for a low 
value. Also the provider appears to be within a very limited market to provide the 
services, which will realise the benefits set out in the body of the report.

Page 12



Direct awards of contracts may be made in limited circumstances, set out at 
regulation 32 of the PCR (“Negotiated procedure without prior publication”) such that 
reg 32 (2)(b)(ii) confirms use of the procedure:
“…where the works, supplies or services can be supplied only by a particular economic 
operator for any of the following reasons:—
 (ii)  competition is absent for technical reasons,
 but only….where no reasonable alternative or substitute exists and the absence of 
competition is not the result of an artificial narrowing down of the parameters of the 
procurement;”
Assuming the Council is able to satisfy that test should any challenge materialise, 
the risk of any such challenge being successful may be regarded as low.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by the Finance Officer 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Jennifer Hilton, Category Manager 
x. 6241

The Council’s Procurement Board has the authority to grant a waiver to Contractual
Standing Orders and the reason for requesting an exception in this instance is 
outlined in the report.

There are always risks associated with applying an exception to the Council’s
Contractual Standing Orders and when making such a request, as this could 
potentially lead to a challenge from an aggrieved supplier if the contract opportunity 
was not sufficiently advertised in accordance with the Council’s Contractual Standing
Orders.

The risk of challenge increases with the proposed term and value of the contract, 
however because the Council is proposing a short term arrangement and this is 
through a ‘specialist’ provider this risk could be deemed to be low.

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: N/A

CONTACT OFFICER: Jeanette Staley               TEL. NO. 0161 793 2616

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): All wards.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1 – Open to the Public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF STRATEGIC DIRECTOR FOR PLACE 

TO THE PROCUREMENT BOARD

ON THE 29th MAY 2019

TITLE:  Agecroft Prison Footbridge Scour Repairs

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That the Procurement Board authorises a total expenditure of £212,412.50 from the  
Department for Transport Capital Grant for Highways Flood Recover Works 
2016/2017, for the implementation of the Agecroft Prison Footbridge Scour Repairs, 
comprising of: 

1. A Target Price of £200,304.74 submitted by Urban Vision Highway Services to 
carry out the works. 

2. Urban Vision Professional Services fees of £12,107.76 for Urban Vision 
Design, Supervision, CDM duties and Ecologist survey associated with the 
above works.

Page 15

Agenda Item 5c



2

Detail required
Title/Description of Contracted 

Service/Supply/Project
Agecroft Prison Footbridge Scour Repairs 

Name of  Engineering Consultant
Name of Successful Contractor Urban Vision Partnership Highway Services
Supplier Registration Number

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)
05292634

Type of organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Private Limited Company

Status of Organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

SME

Contract Value
Other Costs

£ £200,304.74

Contract Duration 6 Weeks
Contract Start Date 24/06/2019
Contract End Date 02/08/2019

Contact Officer (Name & number) Inam Ul-Haque 0161 779 4908
Partner (please identify below)Lead Service Group

 Urban Vision
How the contract was procured?
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Development Services Partnership Agreement

Framework Details (where 
applicable)

(Procurement Body, Framework Reference 
& Title, Start/End Dates, Hyperlink, etc.)

Development Services Partnership Agreement 

Funding Source Department for Transport Capital Grant for 
Highways Flood Recovery Works 2016/2017

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

During the winter of 2015 flood scour damage occurred to the banks of the River 
Irwell in the vicinity of Agecroft Prison Footbridge.  
The River Irwell forms the boundary between the City of Salford and the Metropolitan 
Borough of Bury.  The footbridge spans the River Irwell and connects Forest Bank 
Park (Salford) with Drinkwater Park (Bury).  Whilst the footbridge is owned and 
maintained by Salford City Council the foundations are constructed on the river 
banks to two different Local Authorities.  The Forestry Commission manage the parks 
on both the Salford bank and Bury bank through leasehold agreements and consents 
have been granted in order to access the site and undertake the construction works.
Scour of bridge foundations by the action of water is a major cause of bridge collapse 
and it is important to manage the risks in an effective and consistent manner.  
Specialist hydraulic river modelling and Stage 1 and 2 scour assessments were 
undertaken.  The outcomes of the modelling works concluded that remedial 
measures are needed at Agecroft Prison Footbridge to ensure that the structure is 
adequately protected from scour erosion in the long term.
The solution varies between the East (Bury) and West (Salford) river banks as the 
scour defects encountered are slightly different on each bank.
The Bury bank solution consists of re-grading a portion of the bank either side of the 
bridge to provide a better hydraulic profile and utilise permanent erosion control 
matting at the proposed new surface to stabilise the exposed portion of the slope.  

Page 16



3

Laying armouring stone at the toe of the slope is considered necessary to prevent 
bank retreat.
The Salford bank solution consists of the installation of rock armour in front of 
existing gabion baskets to create a fixed toe.  The existing gabion rock mattress 
scour protection on the banking is to be retained with a new soft fill surface above to 
match the adjacent banks.
The main scheme is not due to start on site until 24th June 2019 but some trees and 
vegetation in the vicinity of the footbridge abutments have already been cleared in 
order to access the banks for the main works.  Due to the nature of the site an 
extended phase 1 habitat survey has been undertaken by a qualified Ecologist to 
cover protected species.

Due to the isolated location of the footbridge the only access route for construction 
traffic is along public footpaths.  The construction activity and number of plant 
movements will result in the footbridge being closed for the duration of the 
construction period so pedestrian diversion routes will be in place and agreed with 
the Forestry Commission.

The bank protection works are necessary so that the footbridge is protected in the 
event that another equivalent flood event occurs comparable to the 2015 floods.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:    
 Delegated Decision Note (Agecroft Prison Footbridge Scour Repairs) – 

Authorised 20/11/18.
 Clifton and Agecroft Scour Assessment – Level 2 Bridge Scour Assessment.
 Clifton and Agecroft Scour Assessment – Visual Geomorphological 

Assessment.
 UV008285-UVP-SGN-ZZ-DR-S-001 Existing General Arrangement.
 UV008285-UVP-SGN-ZZ-DR-S-003 Proposed General Arrangement.

KEY DECISION:    No

1. Detail 

1.1 The source of funding is the Department for Transport Capital Grant for 
Highways Flood Recovery Works 2016/2017.

1.2 Urban Vision Partnership’s Engineering Design Section has been requested to 
design, procure and supervise the project in accordance with the 
Development Services Partnership Agreement. 

1.3 Construction of the scheme will be delivered by Urban Vision Highway 
Services in accordance with the Development Services Partnership 
Agreement.

2. Value for Money Assessment

Page 17



4

2.1 The available procurement options were assessed for how to best deliver the 
project. The Bolton and Manchester frameworks were considered, but it was 
decided that direct allocation to Urban Vision Highway Services was the 
preferred route due to a number of benefits:

2.2 Time: Direct allocation reduces the timescales for the procurement process 
and lead-in for mobilisation. This in turn reduces costs due to the shorter 
durations involved.

2.3 Risk: Early contractor involvement is made possible through direct allocation 
which enables the contractor to consider the ‘buildability’ of the scheme at an 
earlier stage, giving greater out-turn cost certainty and the opportunity to 
mitigate any construction risk identified.

2.4 Cost: Early engagement with the local supply chain reduces the direct works 
cost. The scheme design drawings produced by Urban Vision Engineering 
Design were sent out to competitive tender by Urban Vision Highway Services, 
with three tender prices returned.   
Direct allocation of the scheme attracts a proportion of the Depot Overhead 
which is a fixed cost to the City. Spreading this cost across more projects 
reduces the liability on individual schemes and reduces the risk of under-
recovery of the overhead cost across the 2018/19 programme. 

3.  Project Costs

3.1 A breakdown of the total budget is detailed below:

Works Cost
Measured Works £120,599.68
Risk £24,800.00
Depot Overhead (27.38%) £39,810.43
Depot Profit (8.15%) £15,094.62

Sub Total £200,304.74

Professional Fees
UVPL Highway Design Fees  from DSPA Appendix 3 
Highway Structures (Bridge Repair):
Design – £18,027.43 (9.0%) of Structural Design 
proportion of works value @ £200,304.74

£18,027.43

UVPL Highway Design Fees  from DSPA Appendix 3 
Highway Structures (Bridge Repair):
Supervision - £9,414.32 (4.7%) of Structural Design 
proportion of works value @ £200,304.74

£9,414.32

CDM – £825.00 £825.00
Ecologist - £2,286.00 £2,286.00
River Modelling - £17,588.45 £17,588.45

Sub Total £48,141.20

Total Budget £248,445.94

3.2 £17,588.45 spend to date has previously been approved and relates to the 
specialist river modelling and bridge scour assessment reports.

Page 18



5

3.3 £18,444.99 spend to date has previously been approved and relates to the 
detailed design fee and CDM fee based on budget estimates.

3.4 A breakdown of the costs which is being sought for approval are detailed 
below:

Works Cost
Measured Works £120,599.68
Risk £24,800.00
Depot Overhead (27.38%) £39,810.43
Depot Profit (8.15%) £15,094.62

Sub Total £200,304.74

Professional Fees
UVPL Highway Design Fees  from DSPA Appendix 3 
Highway Structures (Bridge Repair):
Design – £18,027.43 (9.0%) of Structural Design 
proportion of works value @ £200,304.74

£18,027.43

UVPL Highway Design Fees  from DSPA Appendix 3 
Highway Structures (Bridge Repair):
Supervision - £9,414.32 (4.7%) of Structural Design 
proportion of works value @ £200,304.74

£9,414.32

CDM – £825.00 £825.00
Ecologist - £2,286.00 £2,286.00
River Modelling - £17,588.45 £17,588.45
Less detailed design fee and CDM fee (approved 
spend to date)
£18,444.99

-£18,444.99

Less river modelling (approved spend to date) 
£17,588.45

-£17,588.45

Sub Total £12,107.76

Total being sought for approval £212,412.50

4. Funding 

4.1 Department for Transport Capital Grant for Highways Flood Recovery Works 
2016/2017.

5. Social Value

5.1 Urban Vision Highway Services is a signatory of the Salford City Mayor’s 
Employment Charter, making a commitment to creating the best possible 
working conditions for employees, and supply chain partners. Employees are 
paid no less than the Salford Living Wage of £9.00/hour and subcontractor 
payments are made as quickly as possible.

5.2 Urban Vision Highways Services seeks to maximise labour sourced from the 
local area and ensure Salford businesses benefit directly from the project. 
Wherever possible, materials are sourced from local companies, benefitting 
the local economy.

Page 19



6

6. Delivery Timetable

6.1 It is anticipated that work will start on site in 24th June 2019 and the main 
engineering works will be completed by the 2nd August 2019.   

6.2 It is anticipated that the planting works including grass seeding will be 
undertaken in the autumn to suit planting season.   

7. Conclusion

7.1 The bank protection works are necessary to ensure that the footbridge is 
adequately protected from scour erosion in the long term. 

7.2 It is recommended that the Procurement Board give their approval to appoint 
Urban Vision Highway Services at a cost of £200,304.74 and Urban Vision 
Professional Services at a cost of £12,107.76 to undertake the scour repairs. 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.

Enhancing Life in Salford, Think Efficiency, Improving the Environment

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

If the defects are not addressed the banks could erode further during a flood event 
and undermine the footbridge foundations, closing the footbridge, which will impact 
the local pedestrian traffic between the two parks at the Salford-Bury boundary. 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low

Further damage or possible collapse of the bridge may occur if further significant 
events occur before completion of the works. The probability of flooding similar to the 
Boxing Day event occurring in any given year is approximately 1%.  The water level 
in such an event would exceed the bank level and could result in further damage.

It should also be noted that the potential for damage to occur via scour is not limited 
to flooding events.  Numerous Flood Alerts (a status which indicates higher than 
normal water level and flow within the channel of a river) have occurred since the 
2015 flooding.  

The likelihood of an event which could result in damage to the bridge and supporting 
banking is low but the consequences could be high and result in damage to the 
bridge and injury to users of the bridge.

Page 20



7

Consents will be required from Environment Agency and possibly other 3rd Parties 
before works can be commenced.

Funding is available from the Department for Transport Capital Grant for Highways 
Flood Recovery Works 2016/17. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS:

Supplied by: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel. 219 6323
Date supplied: 16.05.19

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services or the 
execution of works, the City Council must comply with the requirements of the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s) 
failing which the decision may be subject to legal challenge. 

The report seeks approval for the instruction of Urban Vision Partnership Limited to 
undertake scour repair works at Agecroft Prison Footbridge as set out in the report. 
In that regard the Council will effectively appoint Urban Vision under the terms of the 
exclusivity arrangement with them contained in the Development Services Partnering 
Agreement between Urban Vision and the Council which provides the Council with 
suitable rights and protections. Previous approval for the removal of the threshold 
levels for UV to undertake highway works and services such as these has been 
obtained, allowing them to be awarded higher value projects than those set out in the 
current contract terms and conditions.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

Supplied by: Alison Woods, Finance Officer, Tel. 925 1135

Date supplied: 16th May 2019

The aforementioned works costs (£200,304.74) and professional fees (£12,107.76), 
will be met from a DfT Flood Recovery capital grant, which has been carried forward 
from the 2016/17 financial year.  This funding forms part of the approved Highways 
Capital Programme for 2019/20.

Expenditure should be closely monitored to ensure the scheme is delivered within the 
allocated resources.

Expenditure code: D07077

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: 

Supplied by:  Christine Flisk, Procurement Manager ext. 6245 

Date supplied: 17/05/2019

Page 21



8

Urban Vision Partnership was procured through a fully compliant OJEU procurement 
process is in contract with the council until 2020. The exclusivity agreement with 
Urban Vision Partnership for delivering Highway services is in place to deliver works 
to under the DSPA agreement.  The delivery agreement can be varied by agreement 
between both parties to vary this agreement. 
The works have been subcontracted by Urban Vision Partnership Ltd by inviting 
quotes from suitably qualified contractors. The value for money assessment for the 
delivery of this project by the depot has not been shared with the procurement team. 
Procurement engagement: None

CLIENT IMPLICATIONS: 

Report has been reviewed by Shoaib Mohammad and comments incorporated.

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Pendlebury

CONTACT OFFICER: Inam Ul-Haque TEL. No: ext. 4908

Ben Dolan
Strategic Director
Place

Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Bridge Scour Assessment 
Clifton and Agecroft, Salford 

 

 

 

 

July 2018 

 

 

 

 

Salford City Council 
 

Page 35



 

  

 

i 

Quality Management 
 

Job No CS/094310 

Project Salford City Council Level 2 Scour Assessment 

Location Metropolitan Borough of Salford  

Title Bridge Scour Assessment 

Document Ref Bridge Scour 

Assessment_Clifton_Agecroft_

005.docx 

Issue / Revision V0 

File reference Bridge Scour Assessment_Clifton_Agecroft_Final 

Date 27/07/2018 

Prepared by  Martin Smith Signature (for file)  

Checked by Kevin Hemmings Signature (for file) 

 

Authorised by Daniel Stansfield Signature (for file) 

 

 

Revision Status / History 
 

Rev Date Issue / Purpose/ Comment Prepared Checked Authorised  

V0 02/10/2018 Final MDS KH DS 

 
Capita Property and Infrastructure Ltd 
Velocity House 
Solly Street 
Sheffield 
South Yorkshire 
S1 4DE 
 
Telephone: 01228 673779 
Project contact: Kevin.Hemmings@capita.co.uk 

Page 36



 

  

 

ii 

Limitations 

This Report has been prepared for the sole use of the Salford City Council in accordance with the 

Agreement under which our services were performed. No other warranty, expressed or implied, is made 

as to the professional advice included in this Report or any other services provided by Capita. This Report 

is confidential and may not be disclosed by the Client nor relied upon by any other party without the prior 

and express written agreement of Capita.  

The conclusions and recommendations contained in this Report are based upon information provided by 

others and upon the assumption that all relevant information has been provided by those parties from whom 

it has been requested and that such information is accurate.  Information obtained by Capita has not been 

independently verified by Capita, unless otherwise stated in the Report.  

The methodology adopted and the sources of information used by Capita in providing its services are 

outlined in this Report. Where assessments of works or costs identified in this Report are made, such 

assessments are based upon the information available at the time and where appropriate are subject to 

further investigations or information which may become available.   

Capita disclaim any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any matter affecting 

the Report, which may come or be brought to Capita’s attention after the date of the Report. 

Certain statements made in the Report that are not historical facts may constitute estimates, projections or 

other forward-looking statements and even though they are based on reasonable assumptions as of the 

date of the Report, such forward-looking statements by their nature involve risks and uncertainties that 

could cause actual results to differ materially from the results predicted. Capita specifically does not 

guarantee or warrant any estimate or projections contained in this Report. 

 

Copyright 

 
© This Report is the copyright of Capita Property and Infrastructure Ltd. Any unauthorised reproduction or 

usage by any person other than the addressee is strictly prohibited. 

  

Page 37



 

  

 

iii 

Contents 
1. Introduction 1 
1.1 Background  1 
1.2 Site Location and Structure Information 1 

2. Data Gathering 4 
2.1 Walkover Survey 4 
2.2 Asset data  4 
2.3 Structure Description 4 
2.4 Previous Analysis 5 
2.5 Underwater Examination 5 
2.6 Coring Information 5 
2.7 Topographic Survey/ Drawings 5 

3. Method 8 
3.1 General  8 
3.2 Hydraulic Model Build, Design Flood, Water Levels and Velocities 8 
3.3 Depth of Scour 12 
3.4 Risk Rating  14 

4. Hydraulic Model Results 16 
4.1 Design Floods, Water Levels and Velocities 16 
4.2 Depth of Scour 16 
4.3 Risk and priority rating 17 
4.4 Superstructure-Assessment of Vulnerability 18 

5. Conclusions and Recommendations 19 
5.1 Conclusions  19 
5.2 Recommendations 19 

 

Figures 
Figure 1-1 Location of Clifton Country Park Footbridge 1 
Figure 1-2 Location of Agecroft Prison Footbridge 2 
Figure 2-1. Location of the bed survey and the cross section survey for the 

Clifton study area. 6 
Figure 2-2. Location of the bed survey and the cross section survey for the 

Agecroft study area. 7 
Figure 3-1. Data sources for each model component for the Clifton model. 9 
Figure 3-2. Data sources for each model component for the Agecroft 

model. 10 
Figure 3-3. Illustration of idealised floodplains (copied Figure 4.3 from 

BD97/12) 12 
Figure 3-4. Parameters for calculating constriction scour (copied from 

BD97/12)2 13 
Figure 3-5. Scour risk rating (copied from Figure 5.1 of BD97/12). 15 

 

 

 

 

Page 38



 

  

 

iv 

Appendices 
 

Appendix A: Site Photos 

Appendix B: Scour Estimations 

Appendix C: Drawings 

Appendix D: Visual Geomorphological Assessment  

Page 39



 

 

 

 
 

1 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Background 

Salford City Council commissioned Capita Property and Infrastructure to undertake a Level 2 Scour 

Assessment for two bridges in the Metropolitan Borough of Salford in accordance with Volume 3 Section 4 

Part 21 BD 97/12 of the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges - The Assessment of Scour and Other 

Hydraulic Actions at Highway Structures, May 2012. The Level 2 Scour Assessment is complimented by 

two detailed 2D hydraulic models built in TUFLOW to assess the hydraulics in the vicinity of both the Clifton 

and Agecroft Bridges. This report summarises the findings of the assessment of these two bridges near 

Clifton and Agecroft, Greater Manchester. 

 

1.2 Site Location and Structure Information 

The bridges are located on the River Irwell at Clifton and Agecroft, Salford, Greater Manchester. The Clifton 

Country Park Bridge, is the boundary between the City of Salford (Irwell West bank) and the Metropolitan 

Borough of Bolton (Irwell East Bank), whilst for Agecroft Prison Footbridge, is the boundary between the 

City of Salford (Irwell West bank) and the Metropolitan Borough of Bury (Irwell East Bank).  

 

The River Irwell catchment area is ~700 km2 at the location of the two study sites and is predominantly 

rural. The catchment is characterised by steep-sided valleys that creates a river system that has high 

energy and is quick to rise following rainfall.   The nearest post codes are M26 1EW for the Clifton Country 

Park Footbridge and M27 8FB for the Agecroft Prison Footbridge. Figure 1-1 presents the location of Clifton 

Country Park Footbridge. Figure 1-2 presents the Agecroft Prison Footbridge. 

 

Figure 1-1 Location of Clifton Country Park Footbridge 

Page 40



 

 

 

 
 

2 
 

Figure 1-2 Location of Agecroft Prison Footbridge 

 

 

In addition to the site information, Table 1-1 and Table 1-2 present some other useful information on the 

bridge structures.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



 

 

 

 
 

3 
 

Table 1-1. Structure Information for Clifton Country Park Footbridge 

Study Area Clifton, Salford 

SMIS Site Name Clifton Country Park Footbridge 

Structure Key N/A 

O.S. Grid Reference 376999, 404481 

Bridge Type Footbridge 

Commissioned Dated 1888 to 1913 

Length 39.78m 

Number of Span 1 

Soffit Level mAOD 41.42 

 

Table 1-2. Structure Information for Agecroft Prison Footbridge 

Study Area Agecroft, Salford  

SMIS Site Name Agecroft Prison Footbridge 

Structure Key N/A 

O.S. Grid Reference 380034, 402406 

Bridge Type Footbridge 

Commissioned Not known; considered modern 

Length 51.3m 

Number of Span 1 

Soffit Level mAOD 35.98 

Page 42



 

 

 

 
 

4 
 

2. Data Gathering 

 

A substantial amount of data has been collected in order to assess existing scour at the structure 

and the potential for future scour. These are summarised in the following sections. 

 

 

2.1 Walkover Survey 

A site walkover survey was undertaken in November 2017 during a period of low flow conditions 

in the River Irwell. The purpose of this visit was to carry out a rapid Geomorphological Visual 

Assessment of the site. Photographs were taken to record the site conditions and evidence of 

existing scour at this time. Appendix A contains key site photographs taken during this walkover 

survey.  

 

The walkover survey at Clifton revealed that the main flow path occurs on the outside of the bend 

of the river immediately upstream of the bridge. On the inside of the bend there is a depositional 

zone. The west bank abutment sits on solid rock that shows no signs of river based erosion. The 

east bank abutment sits behind a stone berm that runs along the east bank. This stone berm 

shows evidence of erosion. Photos in Appendix A show this. Refer to the Visual 

Geomorphological Assessment1 for details.  

 

The walkover survey at Agecroft revealed that the east bank abutment sits back from the edge of 

the bank with vegetation cover providing erosion protection. The soil underneath the bridge on 

the west bank has either settled, been washed away, or was never replaced after construction. 

The photo in Appendix A, Figure B shows this.  Refer to the Visual Geomorphological Assessment 

for details1. 

 

2.2 Asset data 

As built drawings of both structures have been provided for the purposes of this study. See 

Appendix C. 

 

2.3 Structure Description 

The Clifton Country Park Footbridge is a clear spanning truss bridge with a soffit level of 

41.42mAOD and a springing level of 41.25mAOD. The footbridge is shown to exist on historical 

maps dating from 1888 to 1913 in the Visual Geomorphological Assessment1. Both the left and 

the right bank are partially obstructed by vegetation.  

 

The Agecroft Prison Footbridge is a clear spanning Truss bridge with a soffit level of 35.98mAOD 

and a springing level of 35.02mAOD. The bridge is modern as it is not shown on any of the historic 

maps studied in the Visual Geomorphological Assessment1. Both the left and the right bank are 

partially obstructed by vegetation.  

 

                                                      
1 Visual Geomorphological Assessment, Clifton & Agecroft Scour Assessment, Capita, March 2018 

Page 43



 

 

 

 
 

5 
 

2.4 Previous Analysis 

No previous scour assessment analysis was available for this structure. There is however 

existing hydraulic models which cover both of the sites which are the Kearsley 2010 and River 

Irwell 2012 hydraulic models. The information within the hydraulic models has augmented the 

survey information gained onsite for this assessment.  

 

2.5 Underwater Examination 

There are no underwater examination reports for the structure as it is above the water level in 

normal flow conditions and was above the water level during the site visit in November 2017. 

2.6 Coring Information 

No coring information was available for this structure.  

2.7 Topographic Survey/ Drawings 

A topographic survey was undertaken as part of this commission in October 2017. The survey 

included details of the bridge structure information, the bed levels were also surveyed. Appendix 

C includes the survey drawings. The survey included elevation of the bridge structure. The survey 

also indicated the water level at the time of the survey. Figure 2-1 shows the location of the cross 

Page 44



 

 

 

 
 

6 
 

section survey and the topographic bed survey for the Clifton study site. Figure 2-2 shows the 

location of the cross section survey and the topographic bed survey for the Agecroft study site. 

 

Figure 2-1. Location of the bed survey and the cross section survey for the Clifton study area.  

 

Page 45



 

 

 

 
 

7 
 

Figure 2-2. Location of the bed survey and the cross section survey for the Agecroft study area.  

 

 

Page 46



 

 

 

 
 

8 
 

3. Method 

3.1 General 

To assess scour potential at the bridge and thus the risk posed to the structure, the following 

steps were followed: 

 

 Run the existing hydraulic models (River Irwell Salford 2012 and Kearsley 2010). 

 Extract flow and stage (mAOD) from the existing models. 

 Derive a downstream boundary based on the existing modelled water level and the 

recently surveyed cross sections. 

 Build detailed 2D models utilising the recently surveyed cross sections and bathymetry 

to serve as inputs and checks for the scour assessment; 

 Extract design flows, velocities, and water level from detailed 2D model results; 

 Use CIRIA guidance (CIRIA C742) to calculate the water level and velocities at the 

upstream face of the structure as well as velocities through the structure; 

 Calculate scour depth based on the water level and velocities at the upstream of the 

structure as well as velocities through the structure (if they differ substantially from those 

upstream); 

 Relate calculated depth of scour with risk rating recommended in the guidance2. 

 Recommend options based on the risk rating with information from the model and the 

Visual Geomorphological Assessment. 

 

The following sections describe the techniques followed to estimate scour risk posed to the two 

structures. 

 

3.2 Hydraulic Model Build, Design Flood, Water Levels and Velocities 

3.2.1 Hydraulic Model Build 
 
The models were built from topographical surveyed cross sections which were collected in April 

2018, 1m LIDAR and the topographic bed survey. See Figure 3-1 and Figure 3-2 for the data 

source for each model component. The surveyed data formed the basis for the main channel 

while 2m LIDAR formed the basis of the floodplain. A 2m grid size was used for optimum model 

run time and a more accurate representation of the channel and floodplain. Since the surveyed 

cross sections had approximately a 100m gap between them the cross sections were imported 

into HEC-RAS to create interpolated cross sections to improve the representation of the channel 

up and downstream of the bathymetric survey. 

 

In HEC-RAS the areas between each cross section were interpolated at a ~4m spacing. These 

interpolated sections were then exported, and along with the cross sections turned into a DEM 

(Digital Elevation Model). The topographic bed survey was also turned into zpts in Mapinfo. All of 

the z-points (surveyed levels) were merged to become one 2d_zsh layer (DEM) to allow TUFLOW 

                                                      

2. 2Design Manual for Roads and Bridges, BD 97/12 The Assessment of Scour and Other Hydraulic Actions at Highway 

Structures, May 2012. 

 

Page 47



 

 

 

 
 

9 
 

to build a suitably detailed mesh. This method formed the basis of both hydraulic models and 

provides detail in the reach immediately up and downstream of the structure whilst providing a 

suitable level of lesser detail further up and downstream. The bridges were modelled using a 

2d_lfcsh (2D layered flow constriction) layer with data from the survey. For the Clifton model, 

Clifton Marina was modelled with a 2d_zsh layer (DEM) set at 1m below the DTM. The Bolton 

(Clifton) Sewage Treatment Works (STW) outfall was enforced with a 2d_zln (2D z-line which 

enforces topography along that line) layer based off the topographic bed survey. There is no 

additional complexity with the Agecroft model and therefore no amendments have been made in 

this case. 

 

 
Figure 3-1. Data sources for each model component for the Clifton model. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



 

 

 

 
 

10 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3-2. Data sources for each model component for the Agecroft model. 

 

3.2.2 Design Flood 
 
The Kearsley 2010 model covered the Clifton study area and the River Irwell Salford 2012 model 

covered the Agecroft study. There was no single model that covered both study sites. Both 

models have been reviewed at a high level and deemed to be appropriate for use in this study. 

 

The 1% AEP hydrology was extracted from the existing models of Kearsley 2010 and the River 

Irwell Salford 2012. The inflow hydrology for the Clifton model was extracted from the river section 

node IRW1_18353 in the Kearsley 2010 model. This node is located west of Bolton STW and 

about 1.2km upstream of the Clifton Country Park footbridge. The downstream boundary for the 

Clifton model was taken from river section node IRW1_17355. This node is located south east of 

Bolton sewage treatment works and about 420m downstream of the Clifton Country Park 

footbridge. Since the downstream boundary was taken from a node ~560m upstream of the 

downstream boundary, the stage at the downstream boundary was extrapolated. This was 

achieved by extracting peak stage from the last thee cross sections in the Kearsley 2010 model 

and calculating the gradient. This allows a suitable downstream boundary to be applied by using 

a best practice technique in situations where not all available information is available. The 

distance from the area of interest is substantial and whilst the result of this interpolation is not 

exact, it will have a negligible impact on the area of interest around the bridge itself.  

 

An inflow boundary was added to the Clifton model to represent the outfall from Bolton STW. The 

hydrology for this was supplied by United Utilities and the maximum outflow was 1.41m3/s. To 

Page 49



 

 

 

 
 

11 
 

provide a conservative output, this has been provided I the hydraulic model as a continuous 

1.41m3/s outflow as outflows were not recorded against time. 

 

The inflow hydrology for the Agecroft model was extracted from the river section node 

IRW113956 in the River Irwell Salford 2012 model. This node is located due west of the Clifton 

Junction Industrial Park and 1.34km upstream of the Agecroft Prison footbridge. The downstream 

boundary for the Agecroft model was taken from river section node IRW112310Bu. This node is 

located north west from the A6044 footbridge and is 1.24km downstream of the Agecroft Prison 

footbridge. Since the downstream boundary was taken from a node ~560m upstream of the 

downstream boundary, the stage at the downstream boundary was extrapolated. This was 

achieved by extracting stage from the last three cross sections in the River Irwell Salford 2012 

model and calculating the gradient.  

 

3.2.3 Climate Change Allowance 
 
The Environment Agency’s Adapting to Climate Change Guidance (February 2016) presents 

allowances for climate change depending on risk categories and time frames (epochs) across 

various river basin districts (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessments-climate-

change-allowances). Within the guidance, the ‘upper end’ category for the 2080s is 70% for the 

North-West river basin which corresponds to our study site. Therefore, 70% allowance is adopted 

in our assessment in order to consider climate change impact on fluvial flows. Table 3-1 presents 

climate change allowances for the North-West river basin district.  

 

 

Table 3-1. Climate change allowances for the North-West river basin district 

River basin 

district 

Allowance 

category 

Total potential 

change 

anticipated for 

the ‘2020s’ 

(2015 to 2039) 

Total potential 

change 

anticipated for 

the ‘2050s’ 

(2040 to 2069) 

Total potential 

change 

anticipated for 

the ‘2080s’ 

(2070 to 2115) 

North West Upper end 20% 35% 70% 

Higher Central 20% 30% 35% 

Central 15% 25% 30% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



 

 

 

 
 

12 
 

3.2.4 Water Level and Velocity 
 

Water level and velocity were extracted from the hydraulic model at the upstream of both bridges 

and also through the bridge to inform the Level 2 Scour Assessment. 

Figure 3-3. Illustration of idealised floodplains (copied Figure 4.3 from BD97/12) 

 

 

3.3 Depth of Scour 

The depth of scour at a structure is the sum of the general scour (also known as constriction 

scour) and local scour (BD 97/12). The general scour at the bridge was estimated using water 

level and velocities at the upstream of the bridge and through the bridge.  

 

Water levels and velocities at the upstream of the bridge and through the bridge were output from 

the detailed 2D hydraulic model and then compared to the results from the idealised outputs from 

Page 51



 

 

 

 
 

13 
 

Flood Modeller. The following section describes the techniques followed to calculate ‘Constriction 

Scour’ and ‘Local Scour’.  

 

3.3.1 Constriction Scour 
 

The average depth of constriction scour required calculation of the average velocity through the 

bridge opening dropping to a threshold value that would not result in further scour of the bed.  

 

The constriction scour depth Dc,ave as shown in Figure 3-2 is measured as additional area ∆𝐴 

∆𝐴 =
𝑄𝐴

𝑣𝐵,𝑐

− 𝐴𝐵𝑦 

Where,  

∆𝐴= The additional area of the flow consistent with the constriction scour 

𝑄𝐴= Assessment flow 

𝑣𝐵,𝑐= the mean threshold velocity that would not cause further scouring (given in Figure 4.7 and 

Table 4.4 of BD97/12) 
𝐴𝐵𝑦= Area of flow through the bridge opening without constriction scour based 𝑦𝐵 in Figure 3-2, 

but not greater than the total area of the bridge. 

Figure 3-4. Parameters for calculating constriction scour (copied from BD97/12)2 

 

The mean threshold velocity (Vbc) that was applied was 2 m/s; For gravels and sands bed 

materials (grain size of 2mm) and a depth of water of ~12m, the mean threshold velocity 

estimated to be 2m/s (Table 4.3 and Figure 4.7 of BD97/12 guidance, not included in this 

report).  

 

3.3.2 Local scour 
 

The depth of local scour adjacent to piers or abutments is determined with the following 

equation: 
𝐷𝑙,𝑝𝑖𝑒𝑟   = 1.5 𝑊𝑝 𝑓𝑃𝑆 𝑓𝑃𝐴 𝑓𝑦 

Where, 
𝐷𝑙,𝑝𝑖𝑒𝑟: Depth of local scour at pier (m) 

𝑊𝑝 : Width of pier (m) 

𝑓𝑃𝑆: shape factor taken from Figure 4.9 of the BD97/12 guidance 

 𝑓𝑃𝐴 : is a factor depending on the angle of attack of the flow 
𝑓𝑦: the relative depth of the approach flow to the pier width 

 

A shape factor of 1.2 was applied as the L/W is ~0.6 for Agecroft Prison Footbridge and ~1.44 

for the Clifton Prison Footbridge. Since these values are less than 2 the guidance states that a 

shape factor of 1.2 should be applied (Figure 4.9 of the BD97/12 guidance, not included in this 

report). 

Page 52



 

 

 

 
 

14 
 

3.4 Risk Rating 

The scour risk rating is assessed from Figure 3-5, based on the ‘Priority Factor’ and the ‘Relative 

Scour’ depth. The graph shows five bands which define the risk rating (1 being the highest priority 

and 5 the lowest). The priority factor PF is defined as: 

 

PF=F.H.M.TR.V 

 

Where, 

F: Foundation type factor, (piled foundation or spread footing) 

H: History of scour problem 

M: The foundation material factor 

TR: Type of river factor (mountainous, upland, hilly or low or an estuary) 

V: Importance factor (the greater the importance of the bridge and the greater the disruption 

caused by any interruption to its use, the higher the priority. 

 

Relative Scour Depth DR=DT/DF 

 

Where,  

DR: Relative scour depth 

DT: Total depth of scour 

Page 53



 

 

 

 
 

15 
 

DF: the depth to the underside of a spread footing or the underside of the pile cap in the case of 

a piled foundation.  

Figure 3-5. Scour risk rating (copied from Figure 5.1 of BD97/12). 

Page 54



 

 

 

 
 

16 
 

4. Hydraulic Model Results 

 

4.1 Design Floods, Water Levels and Velocities 

The outputs from the detailed hydraulic model were extracted at the upstream face of the bridge. 

The maximum velocity, the maximum water level, and the maximum depth were put into the 

calculations. Table 4-1 and Table 4-2 show these values. 

 

Table 4-1 Clifton Country Park Footbridge Design Flow and Water Level 

 1% AEP event 1% AEP Event with 70% 

climate change allowance 

Design Flow Peak 

(m3/s) 
521 886 

Water Level 

(mAOD) 
41.08 43.02 

Flow velocity 

(m/s) 
2.26 2.26 

Bridge Soffit level 

for comparison 

(mAOD)  

41.42 41.42 

 

Table 4-2 Agecroft Prison Footbridge Design Flow and Water Level 

 1% AEP event 1% AEP event with 70% 

climate change allowance 

Design Flow Peak 

(m3/s) 
516 875 

Water Level 

(mAOD) 
35.08 35.30 

Flow velocity 

(m/s) 
2.93 3.35 

Bridge Soffit level 

for comparison 

(mAOD)  

35.98 35.98 

 

 

 

4.2 Depth of Scour 

Local scour has been calculated in the channel (constriction scour) as well as at the abutments. 

Based on the information gathered during the walkover survey bed materials were observed to 

be gravels and sands. The typical median grain size was set as 2mm based on the guidance. 

Table 4-3 and Table 4-4 present the calculated local scour, constriction scour, and total scour at 

each site. 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



 

 

 

 
 

17 
 

Table 4-3. Depth of Scour at Clifton Country Park Footbridge 

Support location 
Depth of Constriction Scour 

for the design flood (m) 

Constriction Scour (m) 1.83 

Local scour (abutment) (m) 3.40 

Total scour (m) 5.23 

 

Table 4-4. Depth of Scour at Agecroft Prison Footbridge 

Support location 
Depth of Constriction Scour 

for the design flood (m) 

Constriction Scour (m) 3.99 

Local scour (abutment) (m) 3.08 

Total scour (m) 7.07 

 

4.3 Risk and priority rating 

Table 4-5 and Table 4-6 present the risk rating along with the parameters used to assess the risk 

rating. The risk rating falls into Category 4 for Agecroft Prison Bridge and Category 5 for Clifton 

Country Park Footbridge as specified in Table 4-5 and Table 4-6. 

 

Table 4-5. Risk and Priority Rating at Clifton Country Park Footbridge 

Risk Rating Value Comments 

Foundation Depth (m) 6.05 As built 

drawings.  

Max scour depth/ foundation depth 0.86  

Foundation type factor, F 1 Spread 

footing 

History of scour problem factor, H 1.5 History of 

Scour 

Problem 

Foundation material factor, M 1 Silts, sands 

and gravels 

Type of river factor, TR 1 Lowland 

Importance factor, V 0.7 Footpath 

Relative scour depth DR 0.86  

Priority factor Pr 1.05  

Risk Rating 4  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



 

 

 

 
 

18 
 

Table 4-6 Risk and Priority rating at Agecroft Prison Footbridge 

Risk Rating Value Comments 

Foundation Depth (m) 2.52 As built 

drawings  

Max scour depth/ foundation depth 2.80  

Foundation type factor, F 1 Spread 

footing 

History of scour problem factor, H 1 History of 

Scour 

Problem 

Foundation material factor, M 1 Silts, sands 

and gravels 

Type of river factor, TR 1 Lowland 

Importance factor, V 0.7 Footpath 

Relative scour depth DR 2.80  

Priority factor Pr 0.7  

Risk Rating 5  

 

 

4.4 Superstructure-Assessment of Vulnerability 

The Clifton bridge soffit level is at a level of 41.42mAOD and design flood (100 year with 70% 

climate change allowance) level is 43.02mAOD. Therefore, it is likely that in a 1 in 100 year with 

70% climate change scenario, flood water would surcharge causing the bridge to be overtopped.  

 

The Agecroft Prison footbridge soffit level is at a level of 35.98mAOD and design flood (100 year 

with 70% climate change allowance) level is 35.30mAOD. Therefore, it is not likely that in a 1 in 

100 year with 70% climate change scenario, flood water would surcharge sufficiently to cause 

overtopping of the bridge deck.  

 

It is noted that there is a risk the water level may increase in the future due to blockages and 

accumulations of sediment at either of the Clifton or Agecroft structures. 

 

 

Page 57



 

 

 

 
 

19 
 

5. Conclusions and Recommendations 

5.1 Conclusions 

5.1.1 Risk Rating 
 
Based on calculations from the BD97/12 and CIRIA C742 guidance and the hydraulic model 

outputs the calculated scour depths are as follows. The estimated total scour depth is 

approximately 5.23m for the Clifton Country Park Footbridge and a total scour depth of 7.07m for 

the Agecroft Prison Footbridge in a 100 year event with 70% climate change allowance. 

 

For Clifton Country Park Footbridge the estimated scour depths at the abutment is 3.40m in a 1 

in 100 year with 70% climate change scenario. The depth of constriction scour is 1.83m for the 

same scenario. For an foundation depth of 6.05m (according to the as built drawing), the bridge 

falls within a risk rating of 5. This means this is a low priority site in terms of scouring risk posed 

to the structure. 

 

For Agecroft Prison Footbridge the estimated scour depth at the abutment is 3.08m in a 1 in 100 

year with 70% climate change scenario. The depth of constriction scour is 4.00m for the same 

scenario. For a foundation depth of 2.52m (according to the as built drawing), the bridge falls 

within a priority rating of 4. This means this is a low priority site in terms of scouring risk posed to 

the structure.  

 

5.1.2 Superstructure 
 

Based on the BD 97/12 and CIRIA C742 guidance the design flood at the Clifton Country Park 

Footbridge, the water will surcharge at the bridge soffit, and therefore this will flow over the bridge 

deck. The hydraulic model results reveal that the water will also surcharge the bridge soffit. 

 

Based on the BD 97/12 and CIRIA C742 guidance the design flood at the Agecroft Prison 

Footbridge, the water will surcharge at the bridge soffit, and therefore this will flow over the bridge 

deck. The hydraulic model results, however, reveal that the water will not surcharge the bridge 

soffit.  

 

Potential options for scour protection are outlined in Appendix D (Visual Geomorphological 

Assessment Report).  

 

5.2 Recommendations 

5.2.1 General Recommendations 
 

Implement the monitoring and scour protection measures advocated in these reports when 

resources allow. Re-inspections, both as part of regular bridge inspections and after major floods, 

should examine for signs of scour and bank erosion. If conditions at the bridge change then a re-

assessment should be carried out. 

 

Refer to Visual Geomorphological Assessment report for details and bespoke recommendations.  

Page 58



 

 

 

 
 

20 
 

 

 

 

5.2.2 Routine Examination 
 

Regular inspections for scour and flood damage, particularly following a major flood, should be 

carried out and reassessed. This should be undertook at both sites to avoid longer term problems 

and to identify any signs of bank collapse or erosion.  

 

Refer to Visual Geomorphological Assessment report for details and bespoke recommendations.  

 

 
  

Page 59



 

 

 

 
 

21 
 

 

References 
 

2. Design Manual for Roads and Bridges, BD 97/12 The Assessment of Scour and Other Hydraulic 

Actions at Highway Structures, May 2012. 

3. Manual on Scour at Bridges and other Hydraulic Structures, second edition, CIRIA C742, 

Department of Transport, 2015 

4. Flood Estimation Handbook, Volumes 5, CEH Institute of Hydrology, Wallingford, 1999 

5. Design Manual for Roads and Bridges, BD 79/13 The Management of Sub-Standard Highway 

Structures, February 2013. 

 

 

 

  

Page 60



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Appendix A: Figures 

 Figure A. Looking downstream from Agecroft Prison Footbridge 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Figure B. East Bank at Agecroft Prison Footbridge 

Page 61



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Figure C. East Bank at Agecroft Prison Footbridge 

Figure D. Depositional berm and scouring at the Clifton site 
  

Page 62



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Figure E. Outfall from Bolton STW at the Clifton site (taken from bridge) 

Figure F. Left Bank between bridge and STW outfall at the Clifton site  

 

Page 63



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Appendix B: Scour Estimations 

 
 
 
 

Page 64



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Appendix C: Drawings 

 

P
age 65



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

P
age 66



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Appendix D: Visual Geomorphological Assessment 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Commercial in Confidence 

 

 

 

 

 

Clifton & Agecroft Scour 
Assessment 
Visual Geomorphological 
Assessment 
July 2018 

 

Page 69



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

 

Quality Management 
 

Job No CS/094310 

Project Clifton & Agecroft Scour Assessment 

Title Visual Geomorphological Assessment 

Document Ref   Issue / Revision 1 

Date July 2018 

Prepared by  Robin Chase 

 

 

Checked by Nick Coombs   

Authorised by Kevin Hemmings 

 

 

 

Revision Status / History 
 

Rev Date Issue / Purpose/ Comment Prepared Checked Authorised  

P01 05.03.2018 Draft for comment RC NC  

P02 19.03.2018 Final Draft RC NC KH 

P03 24.07.2018 Final Draft addressing comments RC NC KH 

 

This document has been produced by Capita Property and Infrastructure Limited for indicative purposes only and may 

be used solely by the original recipient. By making use of this document the original recipient acknowledges and 

accepts that Capita shall have no liability whatsoever in contract tort or otherwise to any party and shall indemnify and 

hold harmless Capita against any claims by any party in connection with this document. All intellectual property rights 

are reserved by Capita and any licence may be revoked at any time upon notice. 

Page 70



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

i 

Contents 
1. Background 1 

 Introduction  1 

2. Proposed Method 2 

3. Desk-based study 3 
 Background  3 
 Map study - Clifton 3 
 Map study - Agecroft 7 

4. Geomorphological Visual Assessment 10 
 Assessment  10 
 Clifton  10 
 Visual survey conclusions for Clifton Bridge 16 
 Agecroft Bridge 17 
 Visual survey conclusions for Agecroft Bridge 24 

5. Summary 26 
 General:  26 
 Clifton Bridge 26 
 Agecroft Bridge 26 

6. Recommendations 27 
 General  27 
 Clifton Bridge 27 
 Agecroft Bridge 27 

7. Other Considerations 28 
 Climate Change 28 
 Scour assessment 28 
 Summary  30 

8. Details of Possible Solutions 32 
 Clifton  32 
 Agecroft  35 

 

 Figures: 
Figure 1: OS 1:63,360 from 1885 to 1903 3 
Figure 2: OS 1:10,560 from 1888 to 1913 4 
Figure 3: OS 1:63,360 from 1920s to 1940s 4 
Figure 4: OS 1:25,000 from 1937 to 1961 5 
Figure 5: OS 1:63,360 from 1955 to 1961 5 
Figure 6: OS 1:25,000 from 2017 6 
Figure 7: OS 1:63,360 from 1885 to 1903 7 
Figure 8: OS 1:10,560 from 1888 to 1913 7 
Figure 9: OS 1:63,360 from 1920s to 1940s 8 
Figure 10: OS 1:25,000 from 1937 to 1961 8 
Figure 11: OS 1:25,000 from 2017 9 
Figure 12: Clifton P1 (photo one) upstream of bridge looking 

downstream 11 

Page 71



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

ii 

Figure 13: Clifton P2 upstream of bridge looking downstream: close up of 

inside of bend 12 
Figure 14: Clifton P3 upstream of bridge looking across river to inside of 

bend 13 
Figure 15: Clifton P4 on bridge looking upstream to west bank 14 
Figure 16: Clifton P5 upstream of bridge looking underneath bridge to 

eastern bank 15 
Figure 17: Clifton P6 immediately downstream of bridge looking down at 

east bank from bridge 16 
Figure 18: Agecroft P1 view looking upstream from centre of bridge 17 
Figure 19: Agecroft P2 view looking downstream from centre of bridge 18 
Figure 20: Agecroft P3 View looking across the river towards the east 

bank 19 
Figure 20: Agecroft P4 view looking across the river towards east bank, 

20m upstream of bridge 20 
Figure 21: Agecroft P5 view looking across the river towards the east bank 

abutment 21 
Figure 22: Agecroft P6 view looking downstream along the west bank 

under the bridge abutment 22 
Figure 23: Agecroft P7 view looking slightly upstream along the west 

bank 23 
Figure 24: Agecroft P8 close up of west bank immediately upstream of the 

bridge 24 

Page 72



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

 

1  
 

1. Background 

 Introduction 

1.1.1 This report has been commissioned by The City of Salford due to concerns over the abutments 

to two major footbridges over the River Irwell at two locations namely Clifton and Agecroft. 

1.1.2 The footbridges take public footpaths over the River Irwell.  For Clifton Bridge, the river is the 

boundary between the City of Salford (Irwell West bank) and the Metropolitan Borough of 

Bolton (Irwell East Bank), whilst for Agecroft Bridge, the river is the boundary between the City 

of Salford (Irwell West bank) and the Metropolitan Borough of Bury (Irwell East Bank).  

Page 73



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

 

2  
 

2. Proposed Method 

Before an appropriate solution can be found that addresses any issues caused by scour, the river 

processes that are creating the scour need to be understood.  This is to make sure that the solution is 

appropriate to the real problem and not just the symptoms. 

 

Scour is caused by river flow having more ability to remove material than the materials have to resist the 

flow.  River flow within the channel varies for many reasons and measuring those changes can be 

complex.  An easier, and more widely used approach, is to look at the river form so that zones of erosion 

and deposition can be identified in both the present and historic contexts.  This geomorphological (study 

of land form) approach allows for the identification of longer term trends that may underlie the emergence 

of symptoms. 

 

For a project of this scale the approach consists of 6 distinct steps: 

1. View historic maps to assess any change in channel shape; & 

2. A walk over assessment identifying signs of both historic and active erosion and deposition (the 
latter cannot occur without the feed from the former); 

3. Comparison of results from steps 1 & 2 to identify areas where changes have occurred;  

4. Use computer hydraulic modelling to determine velocities in the areas of concern; 

5. Use the velocity to determine the size of material moved (Shields equation/ scour analysis); & 

6. Compare calculation with observed reality to determine best solution. 

This report covers the first three steps in detail, uses the summary of results from steps 4 & 5 (as covered 

in the Scour Report), and then proposes an optimal solution. 

 

The approach taken means that the proposed solution uses the geomorphological observations so that it 

works with natural processes, whilst using the outputs from the Scour Assessment to ensure that the 

proposal is appropriate for present day and future (climate change affected) conditions. 

 

Page 74



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

3  
 

3. Desk-based study 

 Background 

The River Irwell rises near Cliviger, Lancashire in the South Pennines.  Its upper catchment is 

predominantly rural, characterised by steep-sided valleys creating a river system which has high 

energy and is quick to rise following rainfall.  As the River Irwell descends from the Pennines and 

begins to flatten out, the river is increasingly characterised by the urban developments alongside it; 

these include Ramsbottom, Bury and Kearsley, before the River Irwell joins the Manchester Ship 

Canal at Salford. 

 

The town of Clifton, and Agecroft near Pendlebury, are located either side of the Manchester Outer 

Ring Road (M60), within the urban development of the lower reaches of the channel.  The river is 

characterised by centuries of human modification, often for the purposes of flood defence.  Historical 

flood defences have sought to contain river flows within their channels by deepening and widening the 

channel.  Increases in channel capacity also increase the amount of energy within the channel during 

potential flood events.  Combined with above UK average intense rainfall, and rapid surface runoff 

over impermeable soils in the uplands, this increases the potential for active physical changes, 

including scour, to occur in the Clifton and Agecroft areas. 

 

A good range of historical OS maps are available on line from the National Library of Scotland, ranging 

in time from 1885 through to 1961, with more recent images taken from online sources. 

The maps, discussed in sections 3.2 and 3.3, are approximately geo-referenced so that they can be 

directly compared.  This is accurate enough to see any gross changes in the channel shape, and 

depending on scale, the rate of change in any in-channel features recorded by the surveyors. 

 

 Map study - Clifton 

3.2.1  

Figure 1: OS 1:63,360 from 1885 to 1903 

 
 

Very rudimentary map, but shows position of footbridge. 

 

 

Page 75



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

4  
 

 

 

3.2.2  

Figure 2: OS 1:10,560 from 1888 to 1913 

 
Much better detail than previous map, with footbridge shown more to scale, and more detail 

in the river channel, including islands upstream of the bridge location. 

 

 

3.2.3  

Figure 3: OS 1:63,360 from 1920s to 1940s 

 

As it is a smaller scale map there is less detail.  There appears to be no gross channel 

change, even upstream of the bridge which appears to be an active reach judging from the 

appearance and disappearance of islands there. 

3.2.4  

Page 76



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

5  
 

Figure 4: OS 1:25,000 from 1937 to 1961 

 

Better scale than previous map, with some river channel detail shown, for example in-

channel islands.  The islands have clearly changed position compared to the previous maps, 

suggesting some changes in erosion and deposition in the reach upstream of the bridge. 

 

3.2.5  

Figure 5: OS 1:63,360 from 1955 to 1961 

 

Much smaller scale again than previous map, with no in channel features shown.  However, 

the channel shape remains the same showing there is not gross channel adjustment. 

 

 

 

Page 77



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

6  
 

3.2.6  

Figure 6: OS 1:25,000 from 2017 

 

Better scale, with good in-channel detail, particularly the islands which correspond with what 

was seen on site. 

3.2.7 In summary:  Despite evidence of there being active physical changes occurring within the 

area, there is no gross adjustment of the channel, judging from the published maps.  The 

representation of the in-channel features is variable depending on map scale and date.  

That said, the maps are reasonably consistent in showing that the reach immediately 

upstream of the footbridge is active with islands appearing and disappearing.  This suggests 

a change (flattening) in gradient at this location which promotes deposition, with flood flows 

then reshaping them, pushing flows towards the banks and so naturally widening the 

channel at this point. 

The bends either side of the bridge appear to be remarkably consistent in location given 

their acuteness.  This suggests that the substrate is keeping them in position (site visit 

confirms substantial rock formations that are very competent in resisting any river flow). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

7  
 

 Map study - Agecroft 

Unlike Clifton where the bridge location is of some age, the bridge at Agecroft is modern, 

and so is not shown on the historic maps.  However, it is worth examining the maps to see if 

there has been any gross changes in the channel position as that could be an underlying 

cause of any scour seen at the bridge site. 

 

3.3.1  

Figure 7: OS 1:63,360 from 1885 to 1903 

 

Rudimentary map showing gross form of river. Footpath shown on the west bank roughly 

perpendicular to the river, meets the river in the location of the modern bridge. 

3.3.2  

Figure 8: OS 1:10,560 from 1888 to 1913 

 

The footpath mentioned above is also shown on this map. The field boundary to its northern 

side defines the modern path leading from the modern bridge, thus the modern bridge 

location is where the field boundary meets the river.  Also note that the river is used as a 

Page 79



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

8  
 

political (Urban District) boundary on all the maps where they are of sufficient scale.  This 

suggests that the river position is stable in the long term otherwise it would not have been 

chosen. 

3.3.3  

Figure 9: OS 1:63,360 from 1920s to 1940s 

 

Too small scale to show much detail, but river alignment is consistent with that shown in both 

earlier and later maps. 

3.3.4  

Figure 10: OS 1:25,000 from 1937 to 1961 

 

The footpath to the west bank appears to have developed into a track leading to where the 

bridge will be placed. The footpath that runs along the west bank downstream of this 

position appears to have been defined with a boundary, again suggesting that the river 

position is stable. 

3.3.5  

Page 80



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

9  
 

Figure 11: OS 1:25,000 from 2017 

 

Although this is the only map showing the bridge, its location is defined on the previous 

maps by the footpath on the west bank.  The bridge is well located before the apex of the 

bend so should not be subject to the natural pressure that would be seen on the outside of 

the bend where the majority of flow is, and consequently where the highest velocities are. 

3.3.6 In summary:  There is no gross adjustment of the channel, judging from the published maps.  

Unlike the Clifton maps, there is no representation of any in-channel features irrespective of 

map scale and date.  The site visit confirmed that there were no in channel islands on this 

reach so the map history appears correct, and confirms the need for site visits to confirm the 

finer scale features and river process impacts on the bridge sites. 

 

Page 81



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

10  
 

4. Geomorphological Visual Assessment 

On Thursday 30th November 2017, the sites were visited by: 

 Kevin Hemmings; 

 Martin Smith; 

 Robin Chase; & 

 Nick Coombs. 

The purpose of the visit was to: 

a. Familiarise the staff with the sites; & 

b. Carry out a rapid Geomorphological Visual Assessment1 

 Assessment 

The easiest way to present the assessment is by annotating photographs taken on the visit.  These 

are shown below, ordered by bridge, and nominally from upstream to downstream. 

 

 Clifton 

4.2.1  

                                                                                                                                                                             

1 A recognised term for visual geomorphological surveys as defined in: Thorne, C.R., 1998, Stream 

Reconnaissance Guidebook: Geomorphological Investigation and 

Analysis of River Channels, J Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK, ISBN 0-471-968560, 127p. Uses professional 

knowledge to identify forms and processes rather than intensive survey combined with lab analysis 

Page 82



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

11  
 

Figure 12: Clifton P1 (photo one) upstream of bridge looking downstream 

 

The red arrow shows the main flow pathway with highest velocity and energy.  As per normal flow 

character this is to the outside of the bend and where the major erosional pressure would be 

expected. 

 

The green line shows the outer edge of the depositional zone which is created by the low energy 

levels found on the inside of a bend. 

 

4.2.2  

Page 83



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

12  
 

Figure 13: Clifton P2 upstream of bridge looking downstream: close up of inside of bend 

 
 

The green line marks the edge of the depositional zone, as per previous photo.  Of note is the change 

in size of material on the depositional berm, with fine material upstream (left) to courser material at the 

downstream end (right).  There are other local features which are discussed below. 

 

The yellow line marks the end of the deposition, meeting deeper water which extends downstream 

until the rock armouring to the bank infills part of the depositional zone. 

 

The blue line marks the height of a recent high flow with the Japanese knotweed being knocked down 

due to the flow of water.  Japanese Knotweed is a non-native invasive species that spreads 

vegetatively and has particularly strong root rhizomes.  In this location it looks likely that it is providing 

some bank protection function.  This will be at the cost of native vegetation, and progressive loss of 

protection through the winter as the dead canes are broken off by flows, possibly exposing bare 

ground. 

 

It looks likely that the scour hole behind the yellow line is caused by river levels in exceedance of the 

green line, overtopping the berm and cascading down the relatively steep bank there.  This suggests 

that any attempt to extend the berm downstream of the yellow line would probably fail over time, due 

to localised heavy scour.  A more sustainable solution would be to re-grade the river bank here, 

creating a more uniform gentle gradient, thus reducing scour on the downstream end of the berm and 

allowing deposition to occur.   Assuming re-grading is undertaken the existing hole is probably best 

filled with similar sized material to the existing rock armour downstream, which in time, should infill 

with finer material and so become naturalised and vegetated.  Scour assessment should be the next 

stage in analysis at this location, so that velocities and therefore stone size can be accurately 

determined. 

 

Page 84



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

13  
 

The broken white capped water in the foreground of the photo is the result of significant bed 

roughness, almost certainly due to a bed rock sill.  There is a similar feature downstream of the bridge 

and the sewage treatment discharge point. 

 

4.2.3  

Figure 14: Clifton P3 upstream of bridge looking across river to inside of bend 

 
 

As per previous photos the green line marks the edge of the depositional zone, and the blue line the 

height of the previous flood flow in this reach.  The key feature is the pile of grey armour stone placed 

at the upstream end of the depositional zone.  This stone is key to helping stabilise the deposited 

berm, and seems to have been placed there for that purpose. 

 

Small patches of white water adjacent to the grey stone shows that there is a bed abnormality; the 

one closest to the bank is likely to be stone associated with the grey stone on the bank, whilst the one 

further out and slightly downstream may be more natural. 

 

Given the role of the depositional berm in protecting the bank under the bridge, this pile of grey stone 

should be monitored and maintained to secure long-term protection. 

 

The steep section of river bank can again be seen above the blue line.  The overtopping of this 

feature is currently causing the scour hole at the downstream end of the berm (as discussed in 

section 4.2.2).  Over time, this cliff feature would erode, allowing deposition to occur further 

downstream.  Ideally, this section of vertical bank should be re-graded where it runs along the existing 

berm, before an attempt is made to infill the scour hole downstream.  

 

4.2.4  

Page 85



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

14  
 

Figure 15: Clifton P4 on bridge looking upstream to west bank 

 

No annotations are needed for this photo, as the main features shown are clear: from right to left: 

 Coarse gravel/cobble depositional berm; 

 Riffling water in distance over bed irregularities; 

 East Bank (Salford side) comprising of native and undisturbed rock. 

Visual examination of the East bank showed no signs of failure due to river processes, or any other.  It 

is likely that the sharpness of the bend is due to the resistant nature of the rock, with the river 

exploiting softer materials in previous millennia to take its present historic route. 

Consequently, it seems very unlikely that the abutment on the Eastern bank is under any threat due to 

scour. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 86



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

15  
 

4.2.5  

Figure 16: Clifton P5 upstream of bridge looking underneath bridge to eastern bank 

  
 

As per previous photos the green line demarks the edge of the deposition zone; whilst the yellow line 

marks an area of apparent erosion. 

 

The line of vegetation at water level strongly suggests that fine sediment is deposited such that the 

vegetation (possibly Reed Canary Grass: Phalaris arundinacea) has sufficient material to establish its 

roots in.  The finer material is likely to infill between the larger rock armour seen on the lower bank. 

 

Where the vegetation is missing, there is also no larger rock armour to be seen.  Either it was never 

placed there, or it has been displaced by interference to the flow coming from upstream, by the major 

outfall structure and/or the flows coming from it. 

 

The bank slope behind this area seems steeper, which suggests that bank material is being lost into 

the erosion area, and so appears to be active.  It is probably only active with bigger flows where the 

energy and levels of turbulence will be higher.  It has the potential to work its way upstream over a 

longer period of time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 87



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

16  
 

4.2.6  

Figure 17: Clifton P6 immediately downstream of bridge looking down at east bank from bridge 

 
 

As with previous photos the pale green line marks the edge of what appears to be a deposition zone.  

The vegetation at the water’s edge can be clearly seen to be rooted in fine sediment which can also 

be seen within the armour stone/rubble behind it.  Curiously there is little vegetation growing behind 

the water edge, although conditions look beneficial.  Examining similar sites elsewhere on the River 

Irwell shows Himalayan Balsam (Impatiens glandulifera) an annual invasive alien, growing where 

seed has been deposited from upstream.  Because they grow so quickly they out compete native 

species and when they die back in autumn nothing is left but bare soil which the river then erodes. 

 

The area outlined in red is a substantial masonry wall, almost certainly of dry stone (no mortar) 

construction.  This is almost certainly part of the original bridge’s foundation from the 1880’s wooden 

suspension bridge. 

 

The area outlined in orange, to the left of the wall, appears to be a retained platform, which appears to 

be highly infested with Japanese Knot Weed (Fallopia japonica) which is a persistent perennial non-

native invasive species.  This is likely to supress any native species. 

 

However, it looks likely that the rock armour berm is stable and given the control of invasive 

vegetation it would probably be covered in native vegetation which would provide a greater degree of 

protection throughout the year. 

 

 Visual survey conclusions for Clifton Bridge 

The right bank abutment (Salford) sits on solid rock which shows no signs of any river based erosion. 

 

Page 88



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

17  
 

The left bank abutment (Bolton) sits behind the armour stone berm that runs along the left bank.  This 

stone berm shows signs of probable erosion at its upstream and downstream ends which could 

benefit from having the berm extended into the erosion areas, once the cause of the erosion has been 

addressed by lowering the gradient of the river bank, so that high energy flows are kept in the main 

flow pathway of the river. 

 

Further details are given in Section 8. 

 

 Agecroft Bridge 

4.4.1  

Figure 18: Agecroft P1 view looking upstream from centre of bridge 

 
 

View looking upstream with west bank to left of photo, and east bank to right.  Bank profiles differ 

slightly between the two banks: the west bank appears to be more of a uniform slope from bank top to 

water’s edge; the east bank appears to comprise of two components, a shorter slightly steeper bank 

from bank top to mid-bank, with a flatter lower bank, which may be a depositional berm. 

 

The trees on the lower part of the east bank appear to be self-sown and all seem to be about the 

same age (~30 years). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 89



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

18  
 

 

 

 

4.4.2  

Figure 19: Agecroft P2 view looking downstream from centre of bridge 

 
 

Imperfect photo looking downstream from mid-bridge.  Although the west bank cannot be seen (right 

side of photo) some detail of the east bank can be, and this agrees with that seen in the previous 

photo.  That is, a steeper natural bank at the rear from bank top to mid-bank, fronted by what appears 

to be a depositional berm, which is in the expected position of the inside of the downstream bend. 

 

The trees seen on the east bank on this side of the bridge appear to be self-sown and of a similar age 

to those upstream, circa 30 years of age.  In both instances (upstream and downstream) this suggests 

that prior to circa 30 years ago, there was bank maintenance removing trees, otherwise there would 

be older trees amongst them.   

 

Clearance of woody growth on river banks and fallen trees in the channel has been a long standing 

river management technique to maintain conveyance through river reaches.  More modern 

understanding of flow processes combined with better modelling has allowed better estimates of 

required conveyance.  Also the benefits of the trees to bank stability and erosion prevention are more 

appreciated so removal of trees from the banks is now more considered. 

From the evidence seen, the presence of the trees can therefore be considered as benign neglect, 

and apart from periodic maintenance (for example, pollarding) to maintain their health they should be 

left as they are a positive asset in this location. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

19  
 

 

 

4.4.3  

Figure 20: Agecroft P3 View looking across the river towards the east bank 

 
 

This photo better shows the bank profile of the east bank, and although it is certainly due in part to the 

construction of the bridge abutments, the same profile is also seen upstream beyond the expected 

zone of construction, and in the next photo. 

 

There is a good argument that the tree immediately upstream of the bridge growing at the water’s 

edge should be removed.  Whilst the tree roots are providing extra stability to the bank, the disruption 

to out of bank flows will be significant, and likely to lead to removal of bank material under the bridge.  

Given that the local river banks all appear to be stable without the need for tree roots, there is no 

overwhelming need to retain the tree. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

20  
 

 

 

4.4.4  

Figure 20: Agecroft P4 view looking across the river towards east bank, 20m upstream of bridge 

 
 

A view of the east bank about 20m upstream of the bridge showing a natural convex bank cross 

section, with a flatter toe by the water edge.  The lower bank is well vegetated with a mix of native 

perennial vegetation including Reed Canary Grass (Phalaris arundinacea) at the water’s edge.  There 

are no signs of bank retreat or collapse; the only bare earth seen appeared to be deposition due to 

recent flood events. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 92



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

21  
 

 

 

 

4.4.5  

Figure 21: Agecroft P5 view looking across the river towards the east bank abutment 

 
 

Like the previous photo, the bare earth is either deposition or tracks formed by animals (potentially 

dogs) getting to the water.  The bank profile underneath the bridge is very uneven, under very high 

flows this will promote turbulence and increase erosion of the material under those conditions. 

Therefore it is probably best infilled and sown with perennial native plants (grasses such as Reed 

Canary Grass and or Spear Grass (Glyceria Maxima). 

 

Although there is quite a drop down to the river bed from the water’s edge, there are no signs of any 

river based erosion or geotechnical changes such as block failure.  At the time of the visit the water 

colour and depth prevented clear site of the bed, so no assessment could be made of any bed 

processes.   

 

Judging from the flow pattern observed, the major flow path appeared to be roughly channel centre, 

so the prospect of bed erosion leading to bank failure seems remote.  This confirms the need for 

scour assessment as any bed erosion combined with any flow deflection by fallen trees could lead to 

near bank scour leading to bank collapse.  Consequently scour assessment is also needed for this 

site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

22  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.4.6  

Figure 22: Agecroft P6 view looking downstream along the west bank under the bridge abutment 

 
 

In spite of the brambles covering the bank, it can still be seen that the bank angle on the west bank is 

steep like the upper bank on the east bank, and very little sign of a depositional berm. 

 

The vegetation is different too; in the centre of the photo is Giant Hogweed (Heracleum 

mantegazzianum) a biennial/perennial alien invasive plant, which has highly corrosive sap leading to 

skin burns which can take many months to heal.  This species was seen throughout the reach in large 

established stands.  It casts a lot of shade from its large leaves and so outcompetes ordinary native 

vegetation. 

 

At the toe of the bank (bottom left of photo) bare earth in the form of deposited silt can be seen.  This 

is more prevalent in the next photo. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 94



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

23  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.4.7  

Figure 23: Agecroft P7 view looking slightly upstream along the west bank 

 
 

This photo shows a collapsed willow at upstream (left side of photo) end, this has probably interfered 

with flow sufficiently to cause turbulent flow to remove the dead vegetation from the lower bank.  The 

dead vegetation is a combination of two non-native invasives: Giant Hogweed, and Himalayan 

Balsam.  The majority of the ground cover here appears to be Balsam, which as an annual dies back 

in the autumn exposing the bare earth; the Giant Hogweed is a longer lived biennial which dies back, 

with the same effect of leaving the bare bank.  As per the rest of this reach there is Reed Canary 

Grass (RCG) on the wetted edge (seen from mid-photo through to the bottom RH corner).  The root 

system of RCG is usually well developed, so is a good bio-engineering plant that stabilises banks and 

so beneficially increases the flows at which bank erosion starts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

24  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.4.8  

Figure 24: Agecroft P8 close up of west bank immediately upstream of the bridge 

 
 

The two large dead stems in the photo are of Giant Hogweed.  The dead and horizontal stems are the 

remains of Himalayan Balsam which would have blanketed the bank during the summer.  The bare 

earth seen on the lower bank is actually silty/coarse sand deposition during recent overbank flows; it 

is not erosion of the existing bank material. 

 

Without carpeting vegetation to grow through this silt, it makes the process of incorporation into the 

bank much harder/impossible, as it will tend to get mobilised with larger overbank flows.   

 

Longer term the lack of vegetation cover may become significant with larger flows eroding more than 

the deposition seen with the smaller events. 

 

 Visual survey conclusions for Agecroft Bridge 

The east bank abutment sits back from the edge of the bank, with what appears to be a natural 

deposition berm at the wetted edge.  There appears to be reasonable natural vegetation cover 

providing erosion protection to the soils below. 

 

Page 96



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

25  
 

Soil underneath the bridge on the east bank has either settled, been washed away, or was never 

replaced after construction.  Refilling it to provide a smooth surface to remove flood flow turbulence 

under high flows to help prevent erosion would be a good idea. 

 

The west bank abutment, like the east bank one also sits back from the wetted edge, but as this side 

is the start of the outside of the downstream bend, higher flows run closer to this bank and with more 

energy when flowing over the bank.  For minor out of bank flows deposition clearly occurs, but with 

balsam outcompeting native vegetation, the resulting bare earth may become a problem with large 

flows.  The deposition will bring fresh Himalayan Balsam seed, so long term establishment and 

reliability of appropriate native species such as Reed Canary Grass (RCG) and Reed Sweet Grass 

(RSG) in providing soil cover (and hence erosion protection) is probably questionable.  The best 

answer is probably a permanent vegetation reinforcement mat over the levelled ground then blinded 

with topsoil and re-seeded with RCG & RSG. 

 

River conditions prevented any clear sight of the bed at Agecroft, so no assessment of any bed 

processes could be made, especially any bed erosion leading to undercutting of the wetted banks.  

Scour analysis will therefore be worthwhile to determine the risks at this location. 

 

In terms of possible protection measures, observation of the geomorphology shows that longitudinal 

berms running along the lower bank (as per Clifton), are a natural feature on the sharper bends on the 

river.  This could be mimicked using similar large stone running along both banks as a linear triangular 

infill between the vertical bank face and horizontal bed; there would need to be a smaller change in 

cross section in the channel so as not to promote higher velocities and so promote erosion that the 

works seek to control. 

 

Further details are given in Section 8. 

Page 97



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

26  
 

5. Summary 

 General: 

5.1.1 The map studies for both bridge sites show that there has been no major change in channel 

position over at least the last 100 years. 

 Clifton Bridge 

5.2.1 The visual examination concluded that the right Bank abutment is not likely to be a problem 

as it sits on solid native rock with no signs of bank failure due to river processes. 

5.2.2 The left bank abutment sits behind an armour stone berm that appears to be stable where it 

is underneath the bridge.  However at the upstream and downstream ends there are erosion 

processes underway which may cause future problems, and so would benefit from an 

intervention. 

 Agecroft Bridge 

5.3.1 The visual examination concluded that the east bank abutments appear to be sufficiently set 

back from, what appears to be, a stable bank position that short to medium term problems 

are unlikely.  The bank profile under the bridge is very uneven and would benefit from filling 

and planting so that high flood flows move smoothly over the bank without the opportunity 

for any turbulence to dig down and expose the engineered structures beneath. 

5.3.2 The west bank has a steeper bank profile and variable vegetation cover.  Although the 

abutments are set back from the water’s edge, in the longer term the non-native vegetation 

may lead to problems with bank erosion during large events. 

5.3.3 The bridge sits at the end of a comparatively long straight with a left hand bend soon after 

the bridge; maximum flow velocities are therefore likely to be towards the centre of the 

channel.  If there is general bed erosion, due to prolonged large flood events, then failure of 

the banks would be likely given the quality of bank material and the vegetation.  At present 

there are no visual signs that this process is underway.  

Page 98



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

27  
 

6. Recommendations 

 General 

6.1.1 Both bridges appear to have stable flow processes occurring in their immediate locations.  

Anything which disturbs this is likely to upset this equilibrium fairly quickly therefore the 

removal of anything such as fallen trees that deflects flows towards the banks should be 

reviewed and then removed. 

 Clifton Bridge 

6.2.1 There are signs of erosion processes acting on the upstream and downstream ends of the 

stone berm to the left bank.  This should be further investigated, but a workable solution 

would be re-profiling of the upstream bank to aid flood flows, and infilling of the areas of 

erosion with armour stone of similar sized material to prevent further erosion. 

6.2.2 Given the signs of erosion processes being active in this reach, it would be sensible to 

initiate a routine monitoring programme.  Details are given in Section 8 as they are also 

informed by the Scour Assessment. 

 Agecroft Bridge 

6.3.1 There are no signs of bank failure or bank erosion to either bank.  However the bank profile 

of both banks is similar with quite a tall bank at the wetted edge.  The present native 

vegetation (Reed Canary Grass) appears to be competent to hold the bank in position and 

protect it from erosion.   

6.3.2 Any changes to the flow regime causing a variation in bed erosion, is likely to lead to bank 

collapse due to the height of the wetted lower bank.  This is something for long term 

monitoring. 

6.3.3 The bank profile on the east bank under the bridge is very uneven which may cause erosion 

of the bank under high flows; infilling this with sub soil then covering with a permanent 

erosion control blanket (say Vmax V350 or equivalent) then blinded by soil and vegetated 

with native flora (Reed Canary Grass, or Sweet Reed Grass) would help avoid longer term 

problems.  This would need to extend to water level.  Consequently the lowest metre or so 

will be protected from under cutting by erosion, so a layer of rock armour to protect it would 

be sensible. 

6.3.4 The area on the west bank underneath and close to the bridge was covered in bramble 

preventing a more thorough inspection.  Post inspection supplied construction drawings 

show that the west bank has been protected with rock mattresses and gabions for 10m 

downstream, underneath the bridge and 20m upstream of the bridge.  It is likely that this is 

what the brambles have got their roots into and so are unlikely to be displaced by the 

encroaching non-native species.  However, there would be benefit from the suppression of 

the non-native vegetation, and its replacement with bank covering vegetation so as to stop 

erosion getting behind the mattresses.  A live shrub willow mattress would achieve this, 

without the longer term problems of excessive root growth causing mechanical problems for 

the engineered structure. 

6.3.5 Whilst the visual geomorphological assessment did not identify any significant erosion 

processes at this site, the scour assessment showed there was potential, and the changing 

evolution of the bank vegetation is probably leading to an increase in potential bank erosion.  

Consequently it seems sensible to initiate a routine monitoring programme.  Details are 

given in Section 8 as they are clearly informed by the scour assessment. 

Page 99



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

28  
 

Other Considerations 

 Climate Change 

6.4.1 Climate change is likely to lead to increases in peak flood flows in the future.  This in turn is 

likely to increase the sediment loading under flood flow conditions.  This is likely to cause 

increased deposition on the banks, and the spread of non-native vegetation.  This 

combination will in time cause a change in bank profile (steepening) and may cause more 

profound bank collapse causing changes in flow conditions.  Changing the vegetation in the 

area of the bridges now is likely to help prevent bank changes in the long term. 

 Scour assessment 

6.5.1 The results from the Scour Assessment for both bridges confirms that will need further 

investigation to determine what appropriate monitoring and scour protection measures are 

needed.  This will need to cover a range of options. 

6.5.2 The key information from the Scour Assessment for Clifton are as follows: 

Return period 1 in 100 year 1 in 100 year with 70% 

climate change allowance 

Design flood 

(m3/s) 
521 886 

Water Level 

(mAOD) 
41.08 43.02 

Flow velocity 

(m/s) 
2.26 2.26 

Bridge Soffit 

level for 

comparison 

(mAOD)  

41.42     41.42 

 

Support location 
Depth of Constriction Scour 

for the design flood (m) 

Constriction Scour (m) 1.83 

Local scour (pier) (m) 0.00 
Local scour (abutment) (m) 3.40 

Total scour (m) 5.23 
 

Risk Rating Value Comments 

Foundation Depth (m) 6.05 Assumed  

Max scour depth/ foundation depth 0.86  

Foundation type factor, F 1 Spread footing 

History of scour problem factor, H 1.5 History of Scour 

Problem 

Foundation material factor, M 1 Silts, sands and 

gravels 

Type of river factor, TR 1 Lowland 

Importance factor, V 0.7 Footpath 

Relative scour depth DR 0.86  

Priority factor Pr 1.05  

Page 100



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

29  
 

Risk Rating 4  

 

For Clifton Country Park Footbridge the estimated scour depths at the abutment is 3.40m 
below the bridge invert in a 1 in 100 year with 70% climate change scenario.  For a 
foundation depth of 6.05m, the bridge falls within a priority rating of 4 which means this is a 
low priority site in terms of scouring risk posed to the structure.  
 

This confirms the observations from the Visual Geomorphological Assessment.  

6.5.3 The key information from the Scour Assessment for Agecroft Bridge are as follows: 

Return period 1 in 100 year 1 in 100 year with 70% 

climate change allowance 

Design flood 

(m3/s) 
516 875 

Water Level 

(mAOD) 
35.08 35.30 

Flow velocity 

(m/s) 
2.93 3.35 

Bridge Soffit 

level for 

comparison 

(mAOD)  

35.98 35.98 

 

Support location 
Depth of Constriction Scour 

for the design flood (m) 

Constriction Scour (m) 3.99 

Local scour (pier) (m) 0.00 

Local scour (abutment) (m) 3.08 

Total scour (m) 7.07 

 

Risk Rating Value Comments 

Foundation Depth (m) 2.52 Assumed  

Max scour depth/ foundation depth 2.80  

Foundation type factor, F 1 Spread footing 

History of scour problem factor, H 1 History of Scour 

Problem 

Foundation material factor, M 1 Silts, sands and 

gravels 

Type of river factor, TR 1 Lowland 

Importance factor, V 0.7 Footpath 

Relative scour depth DR 2.80  

Priority factor Pr 0.7  

Risk Rating 5  

 

For Agecroft Prison Footbridge the estimated scour depths at the pier and abutment is 
3.08m below the bridge invert in a 1 in 100 year with 70% climate change scenario.  For a 
depth of 2.52m, the bridge falls within a priority rating of 5 which means this is a low priority 
site in terms of scouring risk posed to the structure.  

 

Page 101



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

30  
 

This matches the concerns highlighted is this report regarding potential issues. 

 Summary 

Use of climate change flows in the scour assessment combines the risks from both and so 

gives the best long term assessment. 

 

The following tables shows the results from the present 1:100 year flows, and those with 

climate change added. 

 

The abutment elevations used are the lowest levels found on the as built drawings as they 

are felt to be the most realistic values. The construction drawing gives a value of 35.18m for 

Clifton and a value of 31.62m for Agecroft. 

 

 1:100 year flow Clifton Agecroft 

Bed Level (mAOD) 30.89 28.39 

Abutment Invert Level 
(mAOD) 

35.18 33.44 

Constriction Scour (m) 0.83 0.54 

Abutment Scour (m) 3.01 2.43 

Total Abutment Scour 
(mAOD) 

32.17 31.01 

Total Constriction 
Scour (mAOD) 

30.06 25.96 

 
 

 1:100 year + CC flows Clifton Agecroft 

Bed Level (mAOD) 30.89 28.39 

Abutment Invert Level 
(mAOD) 

35.18 33.44 

Constriction Scour (m) 1.83 3.99 

Abutment Scour (m) 3.40 3.08 

Total Abutment Scour 
(mAOD) 

31.78 30.36 

Total Constriction 
Scour (mAOD) 

29.06 24.40 

 

 

Clifton: 

The above tables can be summarised as follows: 

 

Clifton:  

all levels in mAOD 

1:100yr flow 1:100yr + CC flow Difference 

Bed level 30.89 30.89  

Constriction scour 30.06 29.06  

Difference: -0.83 -1.83 -1.00 

Abutment base 35.18 35.18  

Abutment scour 32.17 31.78  

Difference: -3.01 -3.40 -0.39 

Page 102



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

31  
 

 

This shows that there is some risk due to bed erosion in the short term but that in the long 

term this will increase significantly.  It also shows that without any protection to the bank 

there is significant risk due to bank erosion presently, but that this does not increase 

significantly in the long term. 

 

Agecroft: 

The above table can be summarised as follows: 

 

Agecroft:  

all levels in mAOD 

1:100yr flow 1:100yr + CC flow Difference 

Bed level 28.39 28.39  

Constriction scour 25.96 24.40  

Difference: -2.43 -4.50 -2.07 

Abutment base 31.62 31.62  

Abutment scour 31.01 30.36  

Difference: -0.61 -1.26 -0.65 

 

Unlike Clifton, the table shows that there is significant risk now from both bed and bank 

erosion, and that this continues to worsen in the long term. 

 

 

 

Page 103



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

32  
 

7. Details of Possible Solutions 

This chapter draws together the findings from the geomorphological assessment and the scour 

assessment to develop them into design solution proposals that would work with the natural 

processes to achieve a long term sustainable and therefore cost effective solution. 

 

 Clifton 

7.1.1 Proposed Works 

Post inspection supplied construction drawings show the construction details. 

 

Figure 25: Southern Elevation of Clifton Bridge showing abutment details. 

 
 

 

As mentioned in the previous section, the construction drawings give a value of 35.18m. 

 

Figure 26: Surveyed cross section used in hydraulic model. 

 
 

 

Inspection on site shows that the abutment is actually protected by a substantial drystone 

retaining wall with a top level of 38.44mAOD. 

 

So to protect the abutment, the wall needs to be protected.  Again inspection on site shows 

that what was probably a naturally occurring berm to the inside of the berm has probably 

been reinforced with extra armour stone to protect the toe of the wall from undercutting. 

Page 104



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

33  
 

The topographical survey also shows that a significant proportion of the wetted perimeter of 

the cross section under the bridge is bedrock.  Consequently the likely amount of scour to 

the bed will be limited.  This means that any weaker features, such as a non-bedrock bank, 

will be subject to greater forces as flows grow larger with climate change.  The scour 

assessment shows that there is likely to be significant risk to the bank due to constriction 

scour.   

 

Consequently both the geomorphology assessment and scour assessment agree that better 

protection of the left hand bank (Bolton Bank) is required. 

 

To achieve this without fighting against natural processes and promoting erosion issues, 

development of the existing berm would seem the best solution. 

 

As noted in previous sections there are 2 areas of scour due to existing flow patterns (Areas 

A & C in Figure 27) and these could grow with climate change induced flow increases.   

 

The proposal is therefore that Areas A & C are infilled with appropriately sized armour stone, 

and that they and Area B is then brought up to the existing higher level shown in the 

topographical surveyed cross section (34.82mAOD) with armour stone.  The whole area 

should then be blinded with finer river derived material and then planted with Reed Canary 

Grass and Sweet Reed Grass to provide a smoother hydraulic cover.  

 

Figure 27: Berm Area requiring armour stone. 

 
 

 

7.1.2 Monitoring: 

Typically on rivers the most erosion occurs with the larger flows, with the majority of larger 

flows occurring during the winter.  With a significant proportion of the riparian vegetation on 

the Irwell being non-native invasives, which die back to expose bare earth in the autumn 

and winter, they increase the potential for erosion with the higher flows.  Consequentially 

routine monitoring ought to be carried out: 

Page 105



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

34  
 

 Pre-winter to determine the condition of the stone berm and river banks and assess 

their ability to withstand the higher flows; & 

 Post-winter to determine the impact of the higher flows on the stone berm and river 

banks. 

 

Simple visual assessment using a photographic record is a good starting point.  If the visual 

assessment shows that there has been significant changes, such as loss of vegetation or 

changes in profile shape of berm or bank, then this should trigger more detailed 

investigation. 

 

The detailed investigation should include GPS based survey and should be compared to a 

baseline survey carried out as soon as possible after acceptance and implementation of the 

recommendations of this report. 

 

Whilst routine monitoring will reduce risk and give reassurance that the bridge location is 

being managed, flood flows do not necessarily occur during the autumn – winter period.  

Similarly some years will have particularly severe flood flows during the autumn – winter 

period.  For both of these types of flood flows a post-event inspection is recommended so 

that any damage can be identified, assessed and repaired as appropriately in a timely 

manner. 

 

The routine visual inspection and detailed GPS inspection are both within the competence of 

either Incorporated or Chartered Civil Engineers. 

 

The following table summarised the monitoring recommendations for easy reference: 

 

Item Description Comment 

1. Baseline 

1.1 Baseline Photographic Survey The photographs in this report can be used as 

the baseline. 

1.2. Baseline GPS Survey 1. This should consist of a 0.5m grid covering the 

whole of the berm and the river bank behind it.   

2. The wetted edge of the berm should be 

included as should the toe of the berm. 

2. Routine 

2.1 Routine Photographic Survey 1. Nominally carried out annually in September 

as vegetation dies back but before the onset of 

autumn-winter flows.   

2. Take the baseline photos to site to allow direct 

comparison and ensure the new photos match 

the view of the baseline. 

3. If any significant change is seen from this 

survey, then the Non-Routine GPS survey should 

be used to confirm the size of change and to 

better assess the need for remedial work. 

2.2 Routine GPS Survey 1. This is to pick up any long terms trends, so is 

basically a repeat of the Baseline GPS survey 

every 5 years.  This can be +/- 1 year as weather 

roughly follows a 10 year cycle. 

3. Non-Routine 

3.1 Non-Routine Photographic 

survey 

1. This is to be undertaken after particularly 

severe autumn-winter flood events where flows 

have been near or above bank full conditions. 

2. It should also be undertaken during the 

summer period after any flash flows that occur 

and are carrying large amounts of debris. 

Page 106



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

35  
 

Item Description Comment 

3.2 Non-Routine GPS Survey 1. This is to be carried out as the result of any 

significant observed changes. 

2. The area surveyed can be local to the area of 

change but should extend beyond it to ensure 

that the full extent of the change has been 

recorded. 

 

 

 Agecroft 

7.2.1 Proposed works 

Post inspection supplied construction drawings show the construction details. 

 

Figure 28: Southern Elevation of Agecroft Bridge showing abutment and bank protection 

details. 

 
 

 

As mentioned in the previous section, the construction drawings give a value of 31.62m. 

 

 

Figure 29: Surveyed cross section used in hydraulic model. 

 
 

Page 107



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

36  
 

 

The cross section survey shows that there is rubble at the toe of the true right hand bank 

(TRHB: right side looking downstream; Salford bank).  This may be scour protection works 

to stop the toe of the gabions being undercut.  There is also rubble to the toe of the TLHB 

(Bury bank), which may be to counteract the effect of the works to the other bank squeezing 

flows and so increasing erosion to the bank opposite the works. 

 

The existing gabion and mattress works to the TRHB limit what can be done without 

replacing them all.  The simplest, and probably most reliable method would be to do what 

appears to have been done previously, and that is to use armour stone. 

 

This needs to be well dug in along the whole length of the existing gabions and mattresses 

(circa 35m), and dug back into the bank to avoid erosion getting behind it. (as shown in red 

on the plan view drawing below). 

 

Figure 30: Plan view of proposed scour (red) and bank (green) protection. 

 
 

 

The issues on the TLHB are different as there are clearly no protection works on the upper 

bank as there is huge variation in the bank levels around the abutment and under the 

bridge.  During large flood flows this will cause significant turbulence and erosion, likely 

leading to exposure of, and damage to, the bridge foundations. 

 

This can be addressed by reshaping the bank with imported sub soil to provide a better 

hydraulic profile, as described in sub-section 6.3.  The area in green in the plan above 

shows the area to be reshaped and protected with permanent erosion control matting.  

Permanent control matting is suggested given the issues with non-native species leaving 

bare earth and a consequent erosion problem. 

 

To avoid the lower edge of the matting being undercut by bank retreat, the toe of the bank 

needs armouring.  If this is to be done, then it is sensible to take account of the constriction 

Page 108



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

37  
 

scour results, and so dig in a significant amount of armour stone extending from at least 

31.00mAOD up the bank (helps protect against Abutment scour) down to at least 2m below 

bed level.  This armouring should be a reasonable thickness to allow the material to slump 

into any scour hole without compromising the upper bank protection. 

 

The upper bank protection and scour protection are shown in outline in the drawing below. 

 

Figure 31: Proposal for erosion control to Agecroft Bridge TLHB. 

 
 

 

7.2.2 Monitoring 

The rationale for monitoring at Agecroft is similar to that at Clifton, as the hydrology will be 

the same, and the same non-native invasives are present.  Monitoring is probably more 

important due the fact that the banks are normal sub-soil and that there are no rock berms 

present to protect the bank toe. 

 

Unlike Clifton, the channel bed appears to be similar to the bank sub-soil and so is erodible 

unlike the rock bed at Clifton.  The Scour Assessment showed the potential for scour, so 

taking into account the more erodible channel bed, the baseline and routine GPS surveys 

ought to include bathymetry. 

 

Item Description Comment 

1. Baseline 

1.1 Baseline Photographic Survey The photographs in this report can be used as 

the baseline. 

1.2. Baseline GPS Survey 1. This should consist of a 0.5m grid covering the 

whole of the berm and the river bank behind it.   

2. The wetted edge of the berm should be 

included as should the toe of the berm. 

3. There should also be bathymetry across the 

full channel width with cross sections every 10m 

for a distance of 20m downstream and 30m 

upstream of the bridge. 

2. Routine 

Page 109



 
Clifton and Agecroft  
Visual Geomorphological  
Assessment  
July 2018 

Commercial in Confidence 
Quality Management 

 

38  
 

Item Description Comment 

2.1 Routine Photographic Survey 1. Nominally carried out annually in September 

as vegetation dies back but before the onset of 

autumn-winter flows.   

2. Take the baseline photos to site to allow direct 

comparison and ensure the new photos match 

the view of the baseline. 

3. If any significant change is seen from this 

survey, then the Non-Routine GPS survey should 

be used to confirm the size of change and to 

better assess the need for remedial work. 

2.2 Routine GPS Survey 1. This is to pick up any long-term trends, so is 

basically a repeat of the Baseline GPS survey 

every 5 years.  This can be +/- 1 year as weather 

roughly follows a 10 year cycle. 

3. Non-Routine 

3.1 Non-Routine Photographic 

survey 

1. This is to be undertaken after particularly 

severe autumn-winter flood events where flows 

have been near or above bank full conditions. 

2. It should also be undertaken during the 

summer period after any flash flows that occur 

and are carrying large amounts of debris. 

3.2 Non-Routine GPS Survey 1. This is to be carried out as the result of any 

significant observed changes. 

2. The area surveyed can be local to the area of 

change but should extend beyond it to ensure 

that the full extent of the change has been 

recorded. 

3. Any signs of bank collapse ought to trigger the 

need for bathymetric survey to determine if there 

has been any change in bed form and level.  This 

will allow the design of appropriate remedial 

measures. 

 

 

 

 

-o-O-o- 

Page 110



Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 1 – Open to the Public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF

Director of Service Reform

TO

Procurement Board

ON

1st May 2019

 
TITLE:   Award of contract for Purchasing Card Programme (Concession)

RECOMMENDATION: 

That Procurement Board note the award of the Contract for Purchasing Card 
Programme (Concession) as detailed in the table below:
 

Detail required
Title/Description of Contracted 

Service/Supply/Project Purchasing Card Programme (Concession)

Name of Successful Contractor Lloyds Banking Group
Supplier Registration Number
(to be supplied by Corporate 

Procurement)
Type of organisation

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)
Public Limited Company

Status of Organisation
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Non-SME

Contract Value £300k (income) Full Project
Contract Duration  24 Months

Contract Start Date 01/04/2019
Contract End Date 31/03/2021

Optional Extension Period 1 12 months
Optional Extension Period 2 12 months

Who will approve each Extension 
Period? Strategic Director (extension < £150k)

Page 115

Agenda Item 6a



Contact Officer (Name & number) Mike Cross

Lead Service Group Service Reform & Development

How the contract was procured?
(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement)

Tender (Open)

Framework Details (where applicable)
(Procurement Body, Framework Reference & 

Title, Start/End Dates, Hyperlink, etc.)

Collaborative contract managed by Manchester 
City Council

Funding Source This is a concession contract and  therefore 
provides income to the Council

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

The purpose of this report is to inform Procurement Board of the award of the above 
mentioned contract and the associated rebate.  As previously reported to the Board, 
Manchester lead on the procurement of this contract on behalf of a number of GM 
authorities.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: N/A

KEY DECISION:  NO

DETAILS: 

Contract of the provision of Manchester City Council Purchasing Card contract 
with Lloyds VISA

Introduction

In May 2011, as part of the AGMA collaboration programme, GM Treasurers 
approved a project for all respective authorities to consider joining the Manchester 
City Council Purchasing Card Contract which provides a higher rebate rate. The 
contract is available to GM authorities to participate. The rebate under this contract is 
based upon total consolidated expenditure through the Purchasing Cards system for 
participating authorities and currently sits at 1%.

The decision to utilise the Manchester City Council Purchasing Card Contract has 
proven to be highly successful for the City Council resulting in additional income in 
the form of rebate and enhanced free financial software to ensure integration with 
the City Council’s Financial System, SAP. Since joining the contract, rebate income 
has increased from £24k in 2012 to £315k in 2018.

Page 116



2. The Procurement Process

Manchester City Council conducted the procurement process on behalf of a number 
of local authorities, including Salford, and went out to tender via The Chest, using the 
open tender procedure, in a process compliant with the rules in Salford CC’s 
standing orders.

The successful contractor is Lloyds bank. 

The rebate secured through the procurement process is based on combined GM 
spend, so the actual figure will not be known until next year. However, in any event it 
will be greater than the 1% under the current contract with RBS.

3. Social Value 

Lloyds Bank have provided the following information on social value;

There is a lot of activity specifically around the Greater Manchester region; such as:

 Lloyds Banking Group has c1000 Digital Champions across Greater 
Manchester. Our current work with GMCA as a whole is to support local 
authorities on their digital inclusion agendas, ensuring that we provide the 
right amount of support and expertise where we can. We have a secondee 
into GMCA who is supporting full time on the digital inclusion and skills 
agenda, along with providing management capability.

 We are a member of the GMCA digital steering group and we supported 
GMCA on their approach to Digital Inclusion in 2017; a Lloyds Banking Group 
colleague spoke at GMCA’s GM digital summit to present the strategy.

 GMCA partnered with Lloyds Banking Group in reviewing our Consumer 
Digital Index and featured in the report

 A specific example of what we are doing in Manchester is supporting the 
‘Digital Salford’ Project, where we have colleagues supporting 400 residents 
get online; we were the key sponsor for the launch event. In addition, we run 
code club events across Manchester and currently support 70 schools across 
the country.

 Colleagues from Lloyds’ have supported Andy Burnham’s Digital Strategy 
specifically on Digital Inclusion, advising other companies how to set up a 
digital champions programme, and we’ve produced a how to guide which you 
can find here.   

 Lloyds Bank Academy was launched in partnership with GMCA, to improve 
digital skills across communities:  https://www.lloydsbankacademy.co.uk/#/

 We have supported Greater Manchester based Colleges and Universities by 
providing Lloyds Banking Group staff by providing resource to deliver guest 
lectures, support career fairs and facilitate mock interviews.  We also have 
colleagues acting as Governors and volunteering in local schools.

Page 117

http://www.lloydsbankinggroup.com/media/digital-insight/digital-champions-framework/
https://www.lloydsbankacademy.co.uk/#/


 Our flagship Branch and Business Hub on Market St in Manchester provides 
a number of free of charge events to support start-up businesses and SME’s, 
further details here:
https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/o/lloyds-bank-14622313683

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: N/A. 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: N/A

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  N/A

SOURCE OF FUNDING:   This is a concession contract therefore represents income 
to the Council.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel. 219 6323

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services, or the 
execution of works, the Council must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s), failing which a 
contract may be subject to legal challenge from an aggrieved provider. The proposed 
award of the Purchasing Card Concession Contract follows a procurement exercise 
undertaken in accordance with Manchester City Council’s procedures which the 
Council may adopt if named as a contracting authority when the concession was put 
out to tender.

By way of information, the Council can comply with the requirements of the PCR by 
carrying out its own procurement exercise or relying upon another contracting 
authority's compliant procurement exercise. Effectively, contracting authorities may 
procure goods, works, services or concessions through a ‘central purchasing body’ 
(and are deemed to have complied with the Regulations to the extent that the central 
purchasing body has). The definition of ‘central purchasing body’ includes an 
authority which concludes agreements and concessions for works, goods or services 
intended for one or more contracting authorities, here Manchester City Council. The 
Manchester City Council arrangement is fully compliant from a legislative perspective 
available for the Council (and other named local authorities) to use.

The award of the contract will commit the Council to the formal arrangement with 
Lloyds Banking Group for a period of two years with the option to extend for two 
further periods of twelve months each. Legal Services will assist with preparing any 
contractual documentation upon receipt of instructions to ensure the Council’s 
position and interests are protected.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: Joanne Garvin Finance Officer Ext 2873

Page 118

https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/o/lloyds-bank-14622313683


Should the contract not be awarded, a fall in income will occur which will have a 
negative impact on the budget, there are currently no associated costs with 
extending the contract.  It must be noted that due to a change in procurement 
processes and the insourcing of services from Urban Vision, there is likely to be a 
drop in activity going through purchase cards that will reduce the total rebate 
received.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by:  Emma Heyes, Category Manager, 
The Corporate Procurement Team 

Manchester City Council on behalf of a number of local authorities went out to tender 
for the purchasing card contract via The Chest, using the open tender procedure.  
The evaluation criteria was based on a combination of quality and cost aspects, and 
therefore the company that reached the highest score was deemed to have provided 
the most economically advantageous tender and awarded the contract.

The process followed is in line with the same procedure as required by Salford City 
Council’s contractual standing orders and is therefore complaint with those rules.

Although there has been minimal involvement from the SCC procurement team on 
this re-tender, I am satisfied that the process has been done in a fair and transparent 
manner.

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: NONE

CONTACT OFFICER: Michael Cross                                  TEL. NO. 0161-793-3963

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): NONE

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 1 ITEM NO.

___________________________________________________________________

REPORT OF

The Strategic Director for Place

TO

Procurement Board

ON

29th May 2019

___________________________________________________________________

TITLE:   Retendering of the contract for Archaeological Planning Services
___________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION: 

That Procurement Board note the process outlined in this report for the retendering 
of the GM Archaeological Planning Service
___________________________________________________________________

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

The GM Archaeological Service is provided by Salford University through a contract 
which extends to the end of March 2020. We will be testing the market and re-
tendering the service, with a report for decision coming back to Procurement Board 
in October 2019.
___________________________________________________________________

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

Report of Strategic Director of Place to Procurement Board 9th January 2019.

___________________________________________________________________

KEY DECISION:  

Yes at the decision making stage – the current value of the contract is 
£105,000/annum, although this is not sufficient to cover the cost of the service in 
2018/19. It is suggested that the service should be contacted for a 5 year period, 
with potential for a contract extension of 5 years, to provide certainty.  

Page 121

Agenda Item 6b



___________________________________________________________________

DETAILS: 

The GM Archaeological Planning Service is currently provided by Salford University. 
The service was commissioned in 2012, having previously been provided on behalf 
of AGMA through Manchester University (where it had sat since its inception in 
1980). Salford City Council is acting on behalf of the 10 GM districts as lead 
authority, so procurement processes are for Salford to resolve in discussion with the 
Combined Authority and the other districts.

Since 2012 the service has been subject to a series of contract extensions, the last 
of these being approved by Procurement Board at its meeting on 6th January 2019. 
The current extension period terminates at the end of March 2020. 

After a series of contract extensions it is now necessary to test the market and re-
tender for the service. Salford University has provided an excellent service over the 
last 7 years, and it is anticipated that the University will tender for the service going 
forward. Following the last extension agreed in January of this year the University 
indicated that it would only be able to provide the service to the end of December 
2019, as the funding provided through the CA and the districts would not be 
sufficient to the end of March 2020 (this is due to increased development activity 
across Greater Manchester, and thus a level of work which far exceeds what was 
anticipated in 2012 when the service was commissioned). The shortfall is being 
resolved in 2019/20 through CA funding “top-up”, but (depending on tender returns) 
the long term funding of the service will need reviewing as we move forward beyond 
2020. The mechanism for doing this is under discussion, but is likely to relate to 
changing volumes of work (up and down). 

The service is essential to the delivery of development management services 
(determination of planning applications) by the ten GN local planning authorities. A 
lesson learnt since the commission of the service in 2012 is that a five year contract 
period is too short, and so it will be suggested that the next period should be for ten 
years, but with a mid-term review of the cost of providing the service and of service 
performance. This would provide longer term stability for the service, and  assist the 
service in securing grant aid towards the enhancement of the GM Historic 
Environment Record (which the GMAS holds for GM), making it accessible online.

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: The service supports the development management 
function of the ten GM local planning authorities 
___________________________________________________________________

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: N/A

___________________________________________________________________

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  The ten local planning authorities rely on the service for 
expertise in supporting statutory planning functions. Without that support the LPA’s 

Page 122



would be at risk of not meeting statutory obligations, and potentially of judicial 
challenge on planning decisions
___________________________________________________________________

SOURCE OF FUNDING:   The service is funded through the GM budget. We will 
need to review that budget provision in the light of recent experience of service 
delivery
___________________________________________________________________

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: The legal service will be engaged through the procurement 
process 
___________________________________________________________________

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The finance team will be engaged through the 
procurement process 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: The procurement team will be involved in the 
procurement process
___________________________________________________________________

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: N/A
___________________________________________________________________

CONTACT OFFICER: Chris Findley               TEL. NO. X3654
___________________________________________________________________

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S):  All (across Greater Manchester)
___________________________________________________________________

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 17 April 2019
	5a Request for Approval - Contract Award - Demolition of the High St Estate
	5b Request for Approval - Exception to Contractual Standing Orders - Award of Contract - Specialist Youth Intervention and Mentoring Work
	5c Request for Approval - Expenditure for Agecroft Prison Footbridge Scour Repair
	05(c) - Delegated Decision Notice - Authorised
	05(c) - Bridge Scour Assessment_Clifton_Agecroft_Final_Issued_v2
	05(c) - Visual_Geomorphological_Assesment_Final_v2
	05(c) - UV008285-UV-SGN-ZZ-DR-S-01
	05(c) - UV008285-UV-SGN-ZZ-DR-S-03

	6a Notification of Award of Contract - Purchasing Card Programme
	6b Update on the Process for Retendering of the Contract for Archaeological Planning Services

